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PART I
As used in this Form 10-K, unless the context otherwise requires the terms “we,” “us,” “our,” and “Energous” refer to Energous
Corporation, a Delaware corporation.
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FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, that are intended to be covered by the “safe
harbor” created by those sections. Forward-looking statements, which are based on certain assumptions and describe our future plans,
strategies and expectations, can generally be identified by the use of forward-looking terms such as “believe,” “expect,” “may,” “will,”
“should,” “could,” “seek,” “intend,” “plan,” “estimate,” “anticipate” or other comparable terms. All statements other than statements of
historical facts included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K regarding our strategies, prospects, financial condition, operations, costs,
plans and objectives are forward-looking statements. Examples of forward-looking statements include, among others, statements we make
regarding proposed services, market opportunities and acceptance, expectations for revenues, cash flows and financial performance,
intentions for the future and the anticipated results of our development efforts. Forward-looking statements are neither historical facts nor
assurances of future performance. Instead, they are based only on our current beliefs, expectations and assumptions regarding the future of
our business, future plans and strategies, projections, anticipated events and trends, the economy and other future conditions. Because
forward-looking statements relate to the future, they are subject to inherent uncertainties, risks and changes in circumstances that are
difficult to predict and many of which are outside of our control. Our actual results and financial condition may differ materially from those
indicated in the forward-looking statements. Therefore, you should not rely on any of these forward-looking statements. Important factors
that could cause our actual results and financial condition to differ materially from those indicated in the forward-looking statements
include, among others, the following: our ability to develop a commercially feasible technology; receipt of necessary regulatory approval;
our ability to find and maintain development partners, market acceptance of our technology, the amount and nature of competition in our
industry; our ability to protect our intellectual property; and the other risks and uncertainties described in the Risk Factors and in
Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations sections of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and
our subsequently filed Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q. We undertake no obligation to publicly update any forward-looking statement,
whether written or oral, that may be made from time to time, whether as a result of new information, future developments or otherwise.
Item 1. Business
Overview
We are developing a technology called WattUp® that consists of proprietary semiconductor chipsets, software, hardware designs and
antennas that can enable RF-based wire-free charging for electronic devices, providing power at a distance and ultimately enabling
charging with mobility under full software control. Our anticipated business model is to supply silicon components with reference designs
and license our WattUp technology to device and chip manufacturers, wireless service providers and other commercial partners to make
wire-free charging an affordable, ubiquitous and convenient option for end users. We believe our proprietary technology can potentially be
utilized in a variety of devices, including wearables, Internet of Things (“IoT”) devices, smartphones, tablets, e-book readers, keyboards,
mice, remote controls, rechargeable lights, cylindrical batteries and any other device with similar charging requirements that would
otherwise need a battery or a connection to a power outlet.
We believe our technology is novel in its approach, in that we are developing a solution that charges electronic devices by surrounding
them with a contained three dimensional (“3D”) radio frequency (“RF”) energy pocket (“RF energy pocket”). We are engineering solutions
that we expect to enable the wire-free transmission of energy from multiple WattUp transmitters to multiple WattUp receiving devices
within a range of up to fifteen (15) feet in radius or in a circular charging envelope of up to thirty (30) feet. We are also developing our
transmitter technology to seamlessly mesh, (much like a network of WiFi routers) to form a wire-free charging network that will allow
users to charge their devices as they walk from room-to-room or throughout a large space. To date, we have developed multiple transmitter
prototypes in various form factors and power capabilities. We have also developed multiple receiver prototypes including smartphone
battery cases, toys, fitness trackers, Bluetooth headsets as well as stand-alone receivers.
When the company was first founded, we recognized the need to build and design an enterprise-class network management and control
system (“NMS”) that was integral to the architecture and development of our wire-free charging technology. Our NMS system can be
scaled up to control an enterprise consisting of thousands of devices or scaled down to work in a home or IoT environment.
The power, distance and mobility capabilities of the WattUp technology were validated independently by Underwriters Laboratories (UL)
in October, 2015 and the results published on both the UL and the Energous websites.
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Our technology solution consists principally of transmitter and receiver application specific standard product (“ASSPs”) and novel antenna
designs driven through innovative algorithms and software applications. We submitted our first ASSP design for wafer fabrication in
November 2013 and have since then been developing multiple generations of transmitter and receiver ASSPs, multiple antenna designs, as
well as algorithms and software designs that we believe, in the aggregate, will optimize our technology by reducing size and cost, while
increasing performance to a level that will enable our technology to be integrated into a broad spectrum of devices. We have developed a
“building block” approach which allows us to scale our product implementations by combining multiple transmitter building blocks and/or
multiple receiver building blocks to provide the power, distance, size and cost performance necessary to meet application requirements.
While the technology is very scalable, in order to provide the necessary strategic focus to grow the company effectively, we have defined
our market as devices that require 10 watts or less of power to charge. We will continue to invest in ASSP development as well as in the
other components of the WattUp system to improve product performance, efficiency, cost-performance and miniaturization as required to
grow the business and expand the ecosystem while also distancing us from any potential competition.
We believe that if our development, regulatory and commercialization efforts are successful, our transmitter and receiver technology will
support a broad spectrum of charging solutions ranging from contact-based charging or charging at distances of no more than a few
centimeters (“nearfield”) to charging at distances of up to 15 feet (“farfield”).
In February of 2015 we signed a Development and License Agreement with one of the top consumer electronic companies in the world
based on total worldwide revenues. The agreement is milestone-based and, while there are no guarantees that the WattUp® technology will
ever be integrated into our strategic partner’s consumer devices, we continue to progress the relationship as evidenced by the achievement
of our first revenues in late 2015 from Engineering Services resulting from the achievement of certain milestones under the agreement. We
anticipate continued progress with the relationship which we expect will result in additional Engineering Services Revenue and ultimately,
if fully executed, significant revenues from royalties based on the WattUp® technology being integrated into products being shipped to the
consumer.
In February of 2016 we began delivering evaluation kits to potential licensees to allow their respective engineering and product
management departments to test and evaluate our technology. We expect that the testing and evaluations currently taking place will lead to
an expansion of our licensing partners and will result in products beginning to be shipped to the consumer in late 2016/early 2017.
We have implemented an aggressive intellectual property strategy and are continuing to pursue patent protection for new innovations. As of
March 14, 2016, we had in excess of 250 pending patent and provisional patent applications. Additionally, the U.S. Patent and Trademark
Office (or the PTO) has issued our first five patents and notified us of the allowance of three additional patents. In addition to the
inventions covered by these patents and patent applications, we have identified a significant number of additional specific inventions we
believe are novel and patentable. We intend to file for patent protection for the most valuable of these, as well as for other new inventions
that we expect to develop. Our strategy is to continually monitor the costs and benefits of each patent application and pursue those that will
best protect our business and expand the core value of the Company.
We have recruited and hired a seasoned management team with both private and public company experience and relevant industry
experience to develop and execute our operating plan. In addition, we have identified and hired key engineering resources in the areas of
ASSP development, antenna development, hardware, software and firmware engineering as well as integration and testing which will allow
us to continue to expand our technology and intellectual property as well as meet the support requirements of our licensees.
Our common stock is quoted on the NASDAQ Capital Market under the symbol “WATT”. As of March 8, 2016 we had 52 full-time
employees, 42 of which were engineers. We were incorporated in Delaware in October 2012. Our corporate headquarters is located at 3590
North First Street, Suite 210, San Jose, CA 95134. Our website can be accessed at www.energous.com. The information contained on, or
that may be obtained from our website, is not, and shall not be deemed to be, part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Our Technology
The wire-free charging solution we are developing employs transmitter technology that creates a targeted 3D RF energy pocket around a
receiving device (which may be mobile or fixed).
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Figure 1 below shows a basic diagram of our solution. Today this solution is able to send RF energy from the transmitter (also referred to as
a Power Router) to individual receiver devices in our laboratory.
Figure 1: Our Wire-free Charging Solution Diagram

First, our proprietary power router, or transmitter, locates the receiver(s) in 3-dimensional space via technology we have developed using
standard Bluetooth® communications. Next, the transmitter, through software control, generates a controlled and contained RF-waveform
to create an RF energy pocket around the receiver(s). We expect that receiver(s) equipped with our antennas and ASSPs and controlled by
our software, will be able to harvest power from this contained RF energy pocket. We believe that these receivers will be incorporated into
various devices such as smartphones, wearables, fitness trackers, keyboards and mice, cameras, tablets, toys, IoT devices, sensors, remote
controls and other small electronics which contain embedded batteries.
Our transmitter uses proprietary software algorithms to dynamically direct, focus and control our RF waveform in three dimensions as it
transmits energy to a moving object (such as a user holding their mobile device as they walk around a room).
Our initial demonstration system was able to transmit energy to multiple devices within a range of fifteen (15) feet in radius or in a circular
charging envelope of thirty (30) feet. We believe our current generation ASSPs and those in development will also allow us to significantly
reduce the size and cost of both our transmitters and our receivers as well as provide increased delivered power and efficiency and faster
synchronization speeds.
In January of 2016 we unveiled a new Miniature WattUp Transmitter as well as a small form factor receiver, both of which were developed
as a direct result of our efforts to reduce cost and size. The Miniature WattUp Transmitter can offer either contact-based or non contactbased charging. Non contact-based charging allows for low power charging capabilities within a few millimeters or centimeters distance
from the miniature transmitter. Due to its low cost and small size, the miniature transmitter is anticipated to be bundled in-box with
WattUp-enabled receivers replacing alternative charging solutions like power adapters and charging cables. The ability to bundle and
provide a low cost, portable charging solution for receivers provides portability to the WattUp solution and is anticipated to accelerate the
ecosystem build out.
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Our Competition
There are numerous existing and commercially available methods to provide charging for battery-powered fixed and mobile devices,
including wall plug-in charging, inductive charging, magnetic resonance charging, charging stations and more. To our knowledge, almost
all mobile consumer electronic devices equipped with a rechargeable battery come bundled with a method to charge the device (for
example, a power cord). Studies indicate that the consumer has grown tired and frustrated with tethered charging solutions and that the
market is poised and will be receptive to untethered wire-free power solutions like WattUp developed by Energous Corporation. We believe
that the positive market response and interest in the WattUp technology we have seen suggests that consumer electronic companies that
develop products incorporating our technology will generate incremental sales and realize highly differentiated competitive advantages.
We believe our WattUp technology has a number of advantages compared to traditional charging technologies in terms of size, cost,
mobility and portability. Further, our technology allows us to target a fixed or mobile device, track that device if it moves or is moving, and
transmit focused energy to the targeted device to charge the device without having to remove the battery or plug in the device. However,
there are a variety of other wireless charging technologies on the market or under development today. These competitive technologies fall
into the following categories:
Magnetic Induction. Magnetic induction uses a magnetic coil to create resonance, which can transmit energy over very short distances.
Power is delivered as a function of coil size (the larger the coil, the more power), and coils must be directly paired (one receiver coil to one
transmitter coil = directly coupled pair) within a typical distance of less than one inch. Products utilizing magnetic induction have been
available for 10+ years in products such as rechargeable electronic toothbrushes.
Magnetic Resonance. Magnetic resonance is similar to magnetic induction, as it uses magnetic coils to transmit energy. This technology
uses coils that range in size depending on the power levels being transmitted. It has the ability to transmit power at distances up to ~11
inches (30cm) which can be increased with the use of resonance repeaters.
Conductive. Conductive charging uses conductive power transfer to eliminate wires between the charger (often a charging mat) and the
charging device. It requires the use of a charging board as the power transmitter to deliver the power, and a charging device, with a built-in
receiver, to receive the power. This technology requires direct metal contact between the charging board and the receiver. Once the
charging board recognizes the receiver, the charging begins.
RF Harvesting. Harvesting RF energy is at the core of our WattUp technology. RF harvesting typically utilizes directional antennas to
target and deliver energy. To our knowledge, there are two other companies attempting to utilize a directional pocket of energy similar to
that being developed by Energous.
Laser. Laser charging technology uses very short wavelengths of light to create a collimated beam that maintains its size over distance,
using what is described as distributed resonance to deliver power to an optical receiver.
Ultrasound. Ultrasound charging technology converts electric energy into acoustic energy in the form of ultrasound waves. It then
reconverts those waves through an “energy-harvesting” receiver.
Our Business Strategy
We intend to be both a supplier of our proprietary ASSPs and a licensor of our antenna designs, software and hardware designs to
companies who design, manufacture (or contract for manufacture) and market devices to consumers, military, industrial and other users
who would benefit from wire-free charging. We intend to pursue these paths because we believe there are several verticals with total
available markets measured in the tens of millions of units per year that would benefit from our technology and, as a result, will purchase
our proprietary ASSPs and pay us a royalty for licensing our technology. Our intent is not to compete with our strategic partners by
designing and manufacturing competing consumer electronic products, but rather to support the development and proliferation of the
WattUp® technology to form a ubiquitous wire-free charging ecosystem along the lines of Wi-Fi.
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We believe that our greatest market opportunity lies in creating a ubiquitous ecosystem for wire-free charging at a distance, in much the
same way as the Wi-Fi ecosystem has developed. The goal is to ensure interoperability between transmitters and receivers that are based on
our technology, regardless of who made them, installed them into finished goods, or marketed them. The implementation of previous
ubiquitous solutions such as Wi-Fi and Bluetooth should help to illustrate our goal. For example, Wi-Fi routers, regardless of their designer
or manufacturer, work with Wi-Fi receivers installed in various consumer electronic devices, regardless of the manufacturer. As a result,
we are following the same roll out strategy as Wi-Fi in that we have:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Carefully selected initial target markets;
Built multiple silicon-based chips to advance the technology;
Partnered with leading product companies;
Developed reference designs to reduce early adopter risks and foster adoption;
Provided game-changing benefits to the consumer in terms of utility and convenience;
Designed initial iterations of the technology to be small but scalable implementations that are compatible on both a local and
enterprise scale;
Invested in ease of use;
Developed a strategy to build out the ecosystem starting with the consumer and expanding to enterprise, industrial and military;
Implemented a plan to initially sell ASSPs migrating to a combination of selling ASSPs and integrating our device libraries into
third-party silicon such as Bluetooth Low Energy and Power Management Chips; and
Supported an association like the Air Fuel Alliance (AFA) that is expected to lead to a qualification process to insure
compatibility of the WattUp technology across vendors and develop a common user experience at the application level.

In order for our solution to become a ubiquitous solution for charging at a distance, we intend to pursue an ecosystem strategy for our
technology, engaging not only potential licensees for our transmitter and receiver technologies, but also their upstream and downstream
value chain partners. We also intend to prioritize protecting our intellectual property portfolio, as we believe this strategy will make it less
likely that a competing platform will be able to gain a solid foothold in the uncoupled wireless market and compete with our technology in a
meaningful way.
We believe strategic relationships with key licensees will enable us to reap the benefits of our technology much faster and with greater
penetration than by manufacturing and distributing products ourselves. We believe this business model will also allow us to concentrate our
efforts and resources on future projects to accelerate the introduction and adoption of the WattUp solution. As we develop new applications
for our technology, we expect to target new strategic relationships in different market sectors.
In order to engage with potential licensees of the WattUp technology we have developed evaluation kits consisting of a transmitter and a
receiver along with the enabling software to allow potential strategic partners to test the technology in their labs. The kits form a base
“building block” component that is scalable to meet the needs of specific applications. We are developing processes and the support
capabilities to assist potential strategic partners as they evaluate the technology and develop specific designs to incorporate it.
In selecting our initial licensees, our goal is to identify partners who are willing to make a significant engineering investment in the
integration of the technology and have an internal product cycle that will support rapid deployment with the end goal to release WattUp
devices to the consumer as quickly as possible thereby securing a first to market advantage and accelerating the path to revenue and
profitability.
Since we are developing a new paradigm as to how consumers will charge their mobile devices and other consumer electronics products,
the operational details of our strategy continue to evolve as our technology matures and our engagements with strategic partners solidify.
As a result, we expect to make operational course corrections as we steer the company towards our goal of a ubiquitous wirefree charging
solution. For example, we may enable third party technology companies to support second and third tier licensing opportunities as a way to
expand Energous’ scope and accelerate adoption as opposed to trying to expand our internal support capabilities at a cost and pace
sufficient to meet the needs of what we anticipate will be strong demand for our technology.
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Our Initial Target Markets
We believe that our technology will be compelling to many end markets, each of which may have several potential customers. In an effort
to focus our activities and deliver a WattUp-enabled product to the consumer as quickly as possible, we will likely select certain initial
target markets and strategic partners because of their time-to-market capabilities and their market potential. As we continue to develop our
technology, we intend to add additional markets and partners to expand our market presence.
We identify our initial target markets within these two hardware categories:
Transmitter Target Markets
We believe our transmitters will be developed and released to the consumer in three basic categories:
•
•
•

Stand-alone transmitters that are either sold independently or bundled as part of a pairing with a WattUp-enabled receiver device;
Transmitters that are integrated into third party devices like televisions, computer monitor bezels and refrigerator doors; and
Transmitters that are integrated with Wi-Fi routers to form a single device that provides both connectivity and wire-free power.

Stand-Alone Transmitters:
Our current plans call for stand-alone transmitters to be released in three separate and distinct categories:
Miniature WattUp Transmitters:
Because of their ease of manufacturing and their relative ease of regulatory approval, we expect that products using our miniature
transmitter technology will be the first WattUp enabled products to market. Our miniature transmitters are ideally suited to wearables, IoT
devices and other small electronics which require a small form factor receiver and a low cost total charging solution. These small,
inexpensive transmitters will likely be USB-powered, and will have a range of zero distance from the transmitter (contact-based) to a few
millimeters or centimeters from the transmitter. These solutions will initially be one-to-one (one transmitter to one receiver) with follow-on
versions being one to many.
Midsize WattUp Transmitters:
We expect that our Midsize WattUp transmitters will be geared to the desktop and will likely have a range of a few centimeters to three feet
from the transmitter. We also intend for the midsize transmitters to have tracking ability to support mobile applications and multiple
receiving devices. Likely implementations of midsized WattUp transmitters will include small desktop and nightstand transmitters designed
to send low power at distances for accessories and wearables. The same technology may also likely be integrated into third party devices
like computer monitor bezels, nightstand consumer electronics, accessories such as 12-volt portable chargers and integrated automotive
applications.
Full Size WattUp Transmitters:
Full Size WattUp transmitters are full featured transmitters with the power to charge multiple devices at distances of up to fifteen feet or
anywhere within a 30-foot diameter circle. We also expect that full size WattUp transmitters will have the ability to “pair” with other full
size WattUp transmitters allowing the user to create a large charging envelope encompassing many different rooms or large spaces while
seamlessly providing charging to mobile devices that are moving through the coverage space. Full size WattUp transmitters may also play
a significant role in the powering of IoT devices that are fixed such as security cameras and sensors.
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Transmitters Integrated into Third Party Devices:
The “building block” core architecture developed for the WattUp technology is ideally suited to a broad spectrum of third party devices
like televisions and refrigerator doors. The flexibility of the architecture in terms of size, power, distance, and cost affords Energous
licensees the opportunity to match our technology with specific requirements and limitations typically found with complex integrations. For
example, the WattUp technology could be integrated into the door of a small refrigerator typically found in college dorm rooms providing
charging capabilities to mobile devices anywhere in the room. Further, the “pairing” capabilities of the transmitter technology could enable
licensees to develop venue-specific consumer electronics products like integrated televisions that are paired with integrated picture frames
to provide mobile charging across a large room such as an airport lounge.
Wi-Fi Routers
We see the combination of the wire-free power router and the Wi-Fi router as a natural integration point and a synergistic application of
both technologies. The WattUp wire-free power router shares a number of technical characteristics with Wi-Fi routers in that both devices
operate in the airwaves in the unlicensed industrial, scientific and medical (“ISM”) bands, both devices owe their success to the utility and
convenience they bring to the consumer, both devices rely on antenna structures to send power and data, and both devices “pair” or provide
hand off capabilities which allow for large “enabled” sites similar to a mesh network. We also believe that our 3D pocket-forming
technology may enhance the data signal of a Wi-Fi router, which we believe will provide an even stronger value proposition to wireless
data router manufacturers. Finally, we plan to collaborate with our tier-one consumer electronics company partner to engage with third
party Wi-Fi transmitter companies. Our belief is that through this joint approach we will be able to enhance the marketing and
manufacturing of transmitters which in turn would help drive the demand for receiving devices and accelerate the build out of the WattUp
ecosystem.
The Wi-Fi router market has two segments: commercial and residential. The key differentiator between these segments is that commercial
routers tend to have much more robust security features, including virtual private networks and advanced content filtering. We believe that
our technology is applicable to both the commercial and residential Wi-Fi router markets based on the building block capabilities
mentioned earlier that will enable the WattUp technology to effectively serve and support both markets.
In addition, the Wi-Fi router market has other key players. These include consumer electronics supply chain firms, including original
equipment manufacturers (“OEMs”), original design manufacturers (“ODMs”), component manufacturers and branded consumer
electronics firms. We believe that each of these categories of players can help to integrate our technology into a commercially available
Wi-Fi router.
An ODM designs products either collaboratively with their customers or on their own and manufactures them for sale to companies under
the end customer’s brand. Additionally, an ODM may engage multiple companies with similar designs that are then marketed under several
different end customers’ brands. An OEM manufactures products for sale under another firm’s brand. We believe that engaging with both
types of organizations will be necessary to speed our entry into the market and extend our market reach.
We have ongoing interest from various ODM companies that are exploring the production of the recently announced (January 2016)
miniature WattUp transmitter. This miniaturized transmitter design is intended to replace the typical USB cord and power adapter included
with many small electronics products today. Incorporation of the WattUp® technology into a mini transmitter would allow the intended
product to become waterproof as there is no longer a need for a power input port on the device, while still allowing for an in-box charging
solution.
Component suppliers are also a key part of our go-to-market strategy, as most ODMs and OEMs do not design their own components. We
expect to be actively engaged with component companies that supply antennas, as well as mixed-signal, power and RF components to the
major ODM and OEMs in the Wi-Fi router market.
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As part of our go-to-market strategy, we intend to market to major infrastructure developers, both for consumer and commercial
applications. Within these consumer markets, we expect that engagements will primarily be with consumer product companies who
manufacture and market products to major residential home builders. For commercial installations, we intend to engage with the wireless
network operators and private Wi-Fi system operators. We also intend to engage with concentrated consumer destinations (for example,
coffee shop and restaurant chains, airport lounges and airports) by educating them on the benefits of our solutions to drive them to seek out
and demand our solution from their vendors and suppliers.
Receiver Target Markets
We believe there are a wide variety of potential uses for our receiver technology, including:.
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Smart phones
Wearable devices
IOT devices
Tablets
Mice
Gaming consoles and controllers
Keyboards
e-book readers
Remote controls
Sensors (such as thermostats)
Toys
Rechargeable batteries
Rechargeable lights
Automotive accessories
Personal care products (such as toothbrushes or shavers)
Retail inventory management (such as RFID tags)
Hand-held industrial devices (such as scanners or keypads)

This list is meant for illustrative purposes only; we cannot guarantee that we will address any of these markets, and we may decide to
address a market that is not on the above list. We intend to continuously evaluate our target markets and choose new markets based on
factors including (but not limited to) time-to-market, market size and growth, and the strength of our value proposition for a specific
application.
Key Strategic Partnership
In January 2015, we signed a Development and License Agreement with a tier-one consumer electronics company to embed WattUp wirefree charging receiver technology in various products including mobile consumer electronics and related accessories.
This Development and License Agreement and subsequent amendments contains both invention and development milestones that we will
need to achieve through fiscal 2016 and potentially beyond. If we achieve such milestones, we are entitled to receive milestone-based
development payments under the agreement.
During the development phase until one year after the first customer shipment, we will afford this customer a time to market advantage in
the licensed product categories.
This agreement was amended in July of 2015 to include transmitter technology which we believe is a key to expanding the WattUp
ecosystem given the numbers of transmitters this strategic partner could potentially distribute to the consumer.
We believe that this agreement, and the close collaboration with our partner it entails, will enable us to accelerate commercial development
on a number of fronts. If successful, we believe this agreement also paves a very clear path to attaining critical mass in the market for
WattUp® wire-free power. We believe that this critical mass could be driven first by the wide adoption of our receiver technology and
second by the broad distribution of bundled stand-alone and integrated transmitters into other consumer electronics devices. Finally, having
this wide adoption on both the transmitter and the receiver side should create pull and demand for broad adoption of our technology from
circles outside of our key strategic partner. With the goal of promoting the establishment of a wire-free charging ecosystem based on the
WattUp® technology, we, and this partner, plan to collaborate to introduce WattUp® technology to potential partner companies including
router and accessory manufacturers.
Research and Development
Research and development costs account for a substantial portion of our operating expenses. Our research and development expenses were
$18.8 million, $12.5 million and $2.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively. Research and
development expenses are expected to increase in the future as we concentrate our efforts and resources on the commercialization of our
technology.
Our Intellectual Property
As a company with a primary focus on licensing, we expect that our most valuable asset will be our intellectual property. This includes U.S.
and foreign patents, patent applications and know-how. We are pursuing an aggressive intellectual property strategy and are developing
new patents. As of March 14, 2016, we have in excess of 250 pending patent and provisional patent applications. Additionally, the PTO has

issued our first five patents and notified us of the allowance of three additional patents. In addition to the inventions covered by these
patents and patent applications, we have identified a significant number of additional specific inventions we believe may be novel and
patentable. We intend to file for patent protection for the most valuable of these, as well as for other new inventions that we expect to
develop.
Government Regulation
Our wire-free charging technology involves the transmission of power using RF energy waves, which is subject to regulation by the
Federal Communications Commission (“FCC”), and may be subject to regulation by other federal, state and local agencies. We believe our
technology is safe, and we are consulting with the FCC to establish a process by which devices incorporating WattUp® technology can
secure required FCC approvals.
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As part of the regulatory approval process, we believe devices incorporating the WattUp® technology will need to obtain approvals under
both FCC Part 15 and FCC Part 18. We are confident that our technology allows devices to be approved under Part 15. In addition, because
our technology involves the transmission of power greater than the power threshold limits of Part 15, we also expect devices incorporating
our technology will need to obtain FCC Part 18 approval. The design of the WattUp® technology is such that we believe we will be able to
demonstrate that our power transmissions do not violate current FCC regulations pertaining to human exposure to RF emissions and that
WattUp® technology complies with the Part 18 technical requirements. However, to our knowledge, the transmission of power in this
manner by a consumer product at the ranges we are proposing has not yet been approved by the FCC. There can be no assurance that the
FCC will determine that devices incorporating WattUp® technology are eligible for Part 18 approval, that FCC approval will be able to be
obtained for specific devices, or that other governmental approvals will not be required.
Employees
As of March 14, 2016, we had 52 full-time employees. None of these employees are covered by a collective bargaining agreement, and we
believe our relationship with our employees is good. We also employ consultants, including technical advisors, on an as-needed basis to
supplement existing staff. Consultants and technical advisors provide us with expertise in electrical engineering, software development and
other specialized areas of engineering and science.
Item 1A. Risk Factors
We are subject to various risks that may materially harm our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations. This
discussion highlights some of the risks that may affect future operating results. These are the risks and uncertainties we believe are most
important for you to consider. We cannot be certain that we will successfully address these risks. If we are unable to address these risks,
our business may not grow, our stock price may suffer and we may be unable to stay in business. Additional risks and uncertainties not
presently known to us, which we currently deem immaterial or which are similar to those faced by other companies in our industry or
business in general, may also impair our business, prospects, results of operations and financial condition. The risks discussed below
include forward-looking statements, and our actual results may differ substantially from those discussed in these forward-looking
statements.
Risks Related to Our Business
Other than Engineering Services revenues, we have no history of generating revenue, have a history of operating losses, and we may
never achieve or maintain profitability.
We have a limited operating history upon which investors may evaluate our prospects. Other than Engineering Services revenues, we have
not generated any revenues to date and we have a history of losses from operations. As of December 31, 2015, we had an accumulated
deficit of $78,707,180, that included accumulated expense of $26,265,177 from changes in value of derivative liabilities and, accumulated
stock based compensation expense of $8,515,540. Our ability to achieve material revenue-generating operations and, ultimately, achieve
profitability will depend on whether we can obtain additional capital when we need it, complete the development of our technology and
incorporate that technology into the products sold by our customers. There can be no assurance that we will ever generate revenues or
achieve profitability.
Terms of our Development and License Agreement with a tier-one consumer electronics company could inhibit potential licensees from
working with us in specific markets.
We have entered into a Development and License Agreement with a tier-one consumer electronics company to embed WattUp® wire-free
charging receiver technology in various products including mobile consumer electronics and related accessories. This agreement provides
our strategic partner a time-to-market advantage during the development until one year after the first customer shipment for certain
consumer products. The time-to-market advantage might inhibit another potential licensee from engaging with us or they may be pressured
to seek other solutions which could have a negative impact on our future revenue opportunities.
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Our efforts may never demonstrate the feasibility of our technology.
We have developed a working prototype of our technology but significant additional research and development activity will be required
before we achieve a commercial product. Our research and development efforts remain subject to all of the risks associated with the
development of new products based on emerging technologies, including without limitation unanticipated technical or other problems, the
inability to develop a product that may be sold at an acceptable price point and the possible insufficiency of funds needed in order to
complete development of these products and enable us to render services. Technical problems may result in delays and cause us to incur
additional expenses that would increase our losses. If we cannot complete, or if we experience significant delays in developing our
technology, and products and services based on such technology, for use in potential commercial applications, particularly after incurring
significant expenditures, our business may fail. In particular, to our knowledge, the technological concepts we are applying to develop
commercial applications of wire-free power for fixed and mobile low-power rechargeable devices have not been previously successfully
applied by anyone else, if we fail to develop a practical, efficient or economical commercial product based on those technological concepts,
our business may fail.
We may not obtain FCC approval for our technology and existing laws or regulations or future legislative or regulatory changes may
affect our business.
Our wire-free charging technology involves the transmission of power using RF energy waves, which are subject to regulation by the FCC,
and may be subject to regulation by other federal, state and local agencies. We intend to design our technology so that it will operate
primarily in the 2.4/5.8 GHz radio frequency range, which is the same range as Wi-Fi routers and several other wireless consumer
electronics. Different customer applications may require us to develop our technology to work at different frequencies. For those types of
products, the FCC grants what is known as Part 15 approval if, among other things, the human exposure to RF emissions is below certain
thresholds. In addition, because our technology involves the transmission of power greater than the power threshold limits of Part 15, we
also expect WattUp® devices to need FCC Part 18 approval. To our knowledge, the transmission of power using RF energy waves by a
consumer product at the ranges we are proposing has not yet been approved by the FCC, and there can be no assurance that devices
incorporating WattUp® technology will be able to obtain FCC approval or that other governmental approvals will not be required. Our
efforts to cause the FCC to establish a procedure for the authorization of devices using WattUp® technology by their manufacturers could
be costly and time consuming, and if such manufacturers are unable to receive any such required approvals in a timely and cost-efficient
manner our business and operating results may be materially adversely affected. The cost of compliance with new laws or regulations
governing our technology or future products could adversely affect our financial results. New laws or regulations may impose restrictions
or obligations on us that could force us to redesign our technology under development or other future products, and may impose restrictions
that are not possible or practicable to comply with, which could cause our business to fail. We cannot predict the impact on our business of
any legislation or regulations related to our technology or future products that may be enacted or adopted in the future.
We anticipate future losses and negative cash flow, and it is uncertain if or when we will become profitable.
Other than Engineering Services revenues, we have not generated any revenues to date, and we may never be able to produce material
revenues or operate on a profitable basis. As a result, we have incurred losses since our inception and expect to experience operating losses
and negative cash flow for the foreseeable future.
We expect to expend significant resources on hiring of personnel and startup costs, including payroll and benefits, product and ASSP
testing and development, intellectual property development and prosecution, marketing and promotion, capital expenditures, working
capital and general and administrative expenses. We expect to incur costs and expenses related to prototype development, consulting costs,
laboratory development costs, obtaining regulatory approvals required for our technology and reference product designs, marketing and
other promotional activities, hiring of personnel, and the continued development of relationships with strategic business partners. We may
not be able to obtain financing in a sufficient amount or at all. We anticipate our losses will continue to increase from current levels during
our development stage.
We may require additional financing to achieve our business plans.
We believe our technology is novel in offering the potential to make wire-free charging an affordable, ubiquitous and convenient service
for end users. However, the consumer and commercial electronics industry in general and the power, recharging and alternative recharging
segments of that industry in particular are subject to intense and increasing competition and rapidly evolving technologies. Accordingly, for
our business plans to succeed we believe it will be important for us to move quickly to develop our technology, obtain required regulatory
approvals and engage with strategic partners. As a small company, we may be unable to successfully implement our ambitions of targeting
very large markets in an intensely competitive industry segment without significantly increasing our resources. We may not have sufficient
funds to fully implement our business plan, the ultimate goal of which is to license our technology to device manufacturers, wireless service
providers and other commercial partners to make wire-free charging an affordable, ubiquitous and convenient service for end users. While
we believe our current cash on hand, together with anticipated payments received under product development projects entered into with
customers, will be sufficient to fund our operations into the second quarter of 2017 depending on how soon we are able to begin to generate
meaningful commercial revenue we may need to raise capital through new financings. Such financings could include equity financing,
which may be dilutive to stockholders, or debt financing, which would likely restrict our ability to borrow from other sources. In addition,
such securities may contain rights, preferences or privileges senior to those of the rights of our current stockholders. There can be no
assurance that additional funds will be available on terms attractive to us, or at all. If adequate funds are not available, we may be required
to curtail the development of our technology or materially curtail or reduce our operations. We could be forced to sell or dispose of our
rights or assets. Any inability to raise adequate funds on commercially reasonable terms could have a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operation and financial condition, including the possibility that a lack of funds could cause our business to fail and
liquidate with little or no return to investors.
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We may have difficulty managing growth in our business.
As we expand our activities, there will be additional demands on our financial, technical, operational and management resources. The
failure to continue to upgrade our technical, administrative, operating and financial control systems or the occurrence of unexpected
expansion difficulties, including issues relating to our research and development activities and retention of experienced scientists, managers
and engineers, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations and our ability to timely
execute our business plan. If we are unable to implement these actions in a timely manner, our results may be adversely affected.
If products incorporating our technology are commercially launched, and those products does not achieve widespread market
acceptance, we will not be able to generate the revenue necessary to support our business.
Achieving acceptance of a wire-free recharging system as a preferred method to recharge low-power fixed and mobile electronic devices
will be crucial to our continued success. Consumers and commercial customers will not begin to use or increase the use of products
incorporating our technology unless they agree that the convenience of our wire-free charging solution would be worth the additional
expense of purchasing such products. We have no history of marketing any product and we and our commercialization partners may fail to
generate significant interest in the initial commercial products or any other product incorporating our technology that may be developed.
These and other factors, including the following factors, may affect the rate and level of the market acceptance:
•
•
•
•
•
•

the price products incorporating our technology relative to other products or competing methods of recharging;
the effectiveness of our sales and marketing efforts or those of our commercialization partners;
the support and rate of acceptance of our technology and solutions with our joint development partners;
perception by users, both individual and enterprise users, of our wire-free charging solution’s convenience, safety, efficiency, and
benefits compared to competing methods of recharging;
press and blog coverage, social media coverage, and other publicity and public relations factors which are not within our control;
and
regulatory developments related to marketing our solution or their inclusion in others’ products.

If we are unable to achieve or maintain market acceptance, our business would be significantly harmed.
If our products or products incorporating our technology are commercially launched, we may experience seasonality or other
unevenness in our financial results in consumer markets or a long and variable sales cycle in enterprise markets.
While we do not now have license revenue or a commercial product, our strategy depends on the development of a successful commercial
product and effectively licensing our technology into the consumer, enterprise and commercial markets. We will need to understand
procurement and buying cycles to be successful in licensing our technology into those markets. We anticipate it is possible that demand for
our technology could vary similarly with the market for products with which our technology may be used, for example, the market for new
purchases of laptops, tablet, mobile phones, gaming systems, toys, wearables and the like. Such consumer markets are often seasonal, with
peaks in and around the December holiday season and the August-September back-to-school season. Enterprises and commercial markets
may have annual or other budgeting and buying cycles that could affect us, and, particularly if we are designated as a capital improvement
project, we may have a long or unpredictable sales cycle.
We may not be able to achieve all the features we seek to include in our technology.
We have developed a prototype of our product concept that displays limited functionality in a laboratory setting. There are a variety of
features we seek to include in our technology that we have not yet achieved. For example, while we believe recharging multiple devices on
one transmitter at a commercially acceptable level may be possible theoretically, we have not yet achieved these results, even in the
laboratory. We believe our research and development efforts will yield additional functionality over time. However, there can be no
assurance that we will be successful in achieving all the features we are targeting and our inability to do so may limit the appeal of our
technology to consumers.
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Use of our technology under development or other future products may require the user to purchase additional products to use with
existing devices. To the extent these additional purchases are inconvenient, the adoption of our technology under development or other
future products could be slowed, which would harm our business.
For rechargeable devices that will utilize our receiver technology, the technology may be embedded in a sleeve, case or other enclosure.
For example, certain products such as remote controls or toys equipped with replaceable AA size or other sized batteries, would need to be
outfitted with enhanced batteries and other hardware that would enable the devices to be rechargeable by our system. In each case, to use a
device with our system, an end user will be required to retrofit the device with a receiver and may be required to upgrade the battery
technology used with the device (unless, for example, a consumer electronics supply chain firm has built compatible battery technology and
a receiver into the device). These additional steps and expenses may offset the convenience for some users and discourage some users from
purchasing our technology under development or other future products. Such factors may inhibit adoption of our technology, which would
harm our business. We have not developed the enhanced battery to be used in devices, and our ability to enable use of our technology with
devices that will require an enhanced battery will depend on our ability to develop a commercial version of such an enhanced battery that
could be manufactured at a reasonable cost. If we fail to develop or enable a commercially practicable enhanced battery, we expect our
business would be harmed, and we may need to change our strategy and target markets.
Laboratory conditions differ from field conditions, which could affect the effectiveness of our technology under development or other
future products. Failures to effectively move from laboratory to the field would harm our business.
Our technology, when used in the field, may not be able to match the observations, developments, test results and performance that our
technology may be able to achieve (and we may be able to document) under controlled laboratory circumstances. As one example of the
difference between ideal laboratory conditions and field use, consider that in the laboratory, we can arrange for the transmitter to have lineof-sight transmission to a receiver. If we intend to test the performance through obstructions, we can control the configurations of the
obstructions and the materials from which such obstructions are made. In the field, however, the receiver may be obscured or obstructed, or
placed around a corner. Also, in the field we will have no control over the configuration of the obstructions or the materials that comprise
each obstruction. These conditions may significantly decrease or eliminate the power received at the receiver or the effective range,
because the RF energy from the transmitter may be absorbed by obscuring or blocking material or may need to be reflected off of a surface
to reach the receiver, making the transmission distance longer than straight-line distances. The failure of our technology under development
or other future products to be able to meet the demands of users in the field would harm our business.
Safety concerns and legal action by private parties may affect our business.
We believe that our technology is safe. However, it is possible that we could discover safety issues with our technology or that some people
may be concerned with wire-free transmission of power in a manner that has occurred with some other wireless technologies as they were
put into residential and commercial use, such as the safety concerns that were raised by some regarding the use of cellular telephones and
other devices to transmit data wirelessly in close proximity to the human body. While we plan to at least partially address this potential
concern by developing our management software and sensor technology to be configurable by users to selectively recharge devices in ways
that would be intended to avoid recharging in close proximity to a human body, such as recharging only during predetermined time periods
or recharging only when the device is not moving, we do not plan to conduct any tests to determine whether RF waves produce harmful
effects on humans or other animals. We may be unable to effectively prevent recharging in close proximity to a user’s body, which could
affect the marketability of our technology or could result in requests for law or regulation governing our technology under development or a
class of products in which our technology under development would be included. In addition, while we believe our technology is safe, users
of our technology under development or other future products who suffer medical ailments may blame the use of products incorporating
our technology, as occurred with a small number of users of cellular telephones. A discovery of safety issues relating to our technology
would have a material adverse effect on our business and any legal action against us claiming our technology caused harm could be
expensive, divert management and adversely affect us or cause our business to fail, whether or not such legal actions were ultimately
successful.
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Our industry is subject to intense competition and rapid technological change, which may result in products or new solutions that are
superior to our technology under development or other future products we may bring to market from time to time. If we are unable to
anticipate or keep pace with changes in the marketplace and the direction of technological innovation and customer demands, our
technology and products may become less useful or obsolete and our operating results will suffer.
The consumer and commercial electronics industry in general and the power, recharging and alternative recharging segments of that
industry in particular are subject to intense and increasing competition and rapidly evolving technologies. Because products incorporating
our technology are expected to have long development cycles, we must anticipate changes in the marketplace and the direction of
technological innovation and customer demands. To compete successfully, we will need to demonstrate the advantages of our products and
technologies over well-established alternative solutions, products and technologies, as well as newer methods of power delivery and
convince consumers and enterprises of the advantages of our products and technologies. Traditional wall plug-in recharging remains an
inexpensive alternative to our technology under development. Also, directly competing technologies such as inductive charging, magnetic
resonance charging, conductive charging, ultrasound and other yet unidentified solutions may have greater consumer acceptance than the
technologies we have developed. Furthermore, certain competitors may have greater resources than us and may be better established in the
market than we are. We cannot be certain which other companies may have already decided to or may in the future choose to enter our
markets. For example, consumer electronics products companies may invest substantial resources in wireless power or other recharging
technologies and may decide to enter our target markets. Successful developments of competitors that result in new approaches for
recharging could reduce the attractiveness of our products and technologies or render them obsolete.
Our future success will depend in large part on our ability to establish and maintain a competitive position in current and future
technologies. Rapid technological development may render our technology under development or future products based on our technology
obsolete. Many of our competitors have or may have greater corporate, financial, operational, sales and marketing resources, and more
experience in research and development than we have. We cannot assure you that our competitors will not succeed in developing or
marketing technologies or products that are more effective or commercially attractive than our products or that would render our
technologies and products obsolete. We may not have or be able to raise or develop the financial resources, technical expertise, marketing,
distribution or support capabilities to compete successfully in the future. Our success will depend in large part on our ability to maintain a
competitive position with our technologies.
Our competitive position also depends on our ability to:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

generate widespread awareness, acceptance and adoption by the consumer and enterprise markets of our technology under
development and future products;
design a product that may be sold at an acceptable price point;
develop new or enhanced technologies or features that improve the convenience, efficiency, safety or perceived safety, and
productivity of our technology under development and future products;
properly identify customer needs and deliver new products or product enhancements to address those needs;
limit the time required from proof of feasibility to routine production;
limit the timing and cost of regulatory approvals;
attract and retain qualified personnel;
protect our inventions with patents or otherwise develop proprietary products and processes; and
secure sufficient capital resources to expand both our continued research and development, and sales and marketing efforts.

If our technology is not competitive based on these or other factors, our business would be harmed.
It is difficult and costly to protect our intellectual property and our proprietary technologies, and we may not be able to ensure their
protection.
Our success depends significantly on our ability to obtain, maintain and protect our proprietary rights to the technologies used in our
products and products incorporating our technologies. Patents and other proprietary rights provide uncertain protections, and we may be
unable to protect our intellectual property. For example, we may be unsuccessful in defending our patents and other proprietary rights
against third party challenges.
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We have in excess of 250 pending U.S. patents and provisional patent applications on file. The PTO issued our first five patents and
notified us of the allowance of three additional patents to protect our technology.
In addition to patents, we expect to rely on a combination of trade secrets, copyright and trademark laws, nondisclosure agreements and
other contractual provisions and technical security measures to protect our intellectual property rights. These measures may not be adequate
to safeguard our technology. If they do not protect our rights adequately, third parties could use our technology, and our ability to compete
in the market would be reduced. Although we are attempting to obtain patent coverage for our technology where available and where we
believe appropriate, there are aspects of the technology for which patent coverage may never be sought or received. We may not possess
the resources to or may not choose to pursue patent protection outside the United States or any or every country other than the United
States where we may eventually decide to sell our future products. Our ability to prevent others from making or selling duplicate or similar
technologies will be impaired in those countries in which we have no patent protection. Although we have in excess of 250 pending and
provisional patent applications on file in the United States protecting aspects of our technology under development, our patents may not
issue as a result of those applications drawing priority or otherwise based on those patent applications, may issue only with limited coverage
or may issue and be subsequently successfully challenged by others and held invalid or unenforceable.
Similarly, even if patents do issue based on our applications or future applications, any issued patents may not provide us with any
competitive advantages. Competitors may be able to design around our patents or develop products that provide outcomes comparable or
superior to ours. Our patents may be held invalid or unenforceable as a result of legal challenges by third parties, and others may challenge
the inventorship or ownership of our patents and pending patent applications. In addition, if we choose to and are able to secure protection
in countries outside the United States, the laws of some foreign countries may not protect our intellectual property rights to the same extent
as do the laws of the United States. In the event a competitor infringes upon our patent or other intellectual property rights, enforcing those
rights may be difficult and time consuming. Even if successful, litigation to enforce our intellectual property rights or to defend our patents
against challenge could be expensive and time consuming and could divert our management’s attention. We may not have sufficient
resources to enforce our intellectual property rights or to defend our patents against a challenge.
We may also in the future as one of our strategies to deploy our technology into the market, license patent and other proprietary rights to
aspects of our technology to third parties and customers. Disputes with our licensors may arise regarding the scope and content of these
licenses. Further, our ability to expand into additional fields with our technologies may be restricted by our existing licenses or licenses we
may grant to third parties in the future.
The policies we use to protect our trade secrets may not be effective in preventing misappropriation of our trade secrets by others. In
addition, confidentiality agreements executed by our employees, consultants and advisors may not be enforceable or may not provide
meaningful protection for our trade secrets or other proprietary information in the event of unauthorized use or disclosure. Litigating a
trade secret claim is expensive and time consuming, and the outcome is unpredictable. In addition, courts outside the United States are
sometimes less willing to protect trade secrets. Moreover, our competitors may independently develop equivalent knowledge methods and
know-how. If we are unable to protect our intellectual property rights, we may be unable to prevent competitors from using our own
inventions and intellectual property to compete against us, and our business may be harmed.
We may be subject to patent infringement or other intellectual property lawsuits which may be costly to defend.
Because our industry is characterized by competing intellectual property, we may be sued for violating the intellectual property rights of
others. Determining whether a product infringes a patent involves complex legal and factual issues, and the outcome of patent litigation
actions is often uncertain. We have not conducted any significant search of patents issued to third parties, and no assurance can be given
that third party patents containing claims covering our products, parts of our products, technology or methods do not exist, have not been
filed, or could not be filed or issued. Because of the number of patents issued and patent applications filed in our technical areas or fields
(including some pertaining specifically to wireless charging technologies), our competitors or other third parties may assert that our
products and technology and the methods we employ in the use of our products and technology are covered by United States or foreign
patents held by them. In addition, because patent applications can take many years to issue and because publication schedules for pending
applications vary by jurisdiction, there may be applications now pending of which we are unaware, and which may result in issued patents
that our technology under development or other future products would infringe. Also, because the claims of published patent applications
can change between publication and patent grant, there may be published patent applications that may ultimately issue with claims that we
infringe. There could also be existing patents that one or more of our technologies, products or parts may infringe and of which we are
unaware. As the number of competitors in the market for wire-free power and alternative recharging solutions increases, and as the number
of patents issued in this area grows, the possibility of patent infringement claims against us increases. Some of our competitors may be able
to sustain the costs of complex patent litigation more effectively than we can because they have substantially greater resources. In addition,
any uncertainties resulting from the initiation and continuation of any litigation could have a material adverse effect on our ability to raise
the funds necessary to continue our operations.
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In the event that we become subject to a patent infringement or other intellectual property lawsuit and if the relevant patents or other
intellectual property were upheld as valid and enforceable and we were found to infringe or violate the terms of a license to which we are a
party, we could be prevented from selling any infringing products of ours unless we could obtain a license or were able to redesign the
product to avoid infringement. If we were unable to obtain a license or successfully redesign, we might be prevented from selling our
technology under development or other future products. If there is an allegation or determination that we have infringed the intellectual
property rights of a competitor or other person, we may be required to pay damages, or a settlement or ongoing royalties. In these
circumstances, we may be unable to sell our products or license our technology at competitive prices or at all, our business and operating
results could be harmed.
We could become subject to product liability claims, product recalls, and warranty claims that could be expensive, divert management’s
attention and harm our business.
Our business exposes us to potential liability risks that are inherent in the marketing and sale of products used by consumers. We may be
held liable if our technology under development now or in the future causes injury or death or are found otherwise unsuitable during usage.
Our technology under development incorporates sophisticated components and computer software. Complex software can contain errors,
particularly when first introduced. In addition, new products or enhancements may contain undetected errors or performance problems that,
despite testing, are discovered only after installation. While we believe our technology is safe, users could allege or possibly prove defects
(some of which could be alleged or proved to cause harm to users or others) because we design our technology to perform complex
functions involving RF energy, possibly in close proximity to users. A product liability claim, regardless of its merit or eventual outcome,
could result in significant legal defense costs. The coverage limits of our insurance policies we may choose to purchase to cover related
risks may not be adequate to cover future claims. If sales of products incorporating our technology increase or we suffer future product
liability claims, we may be unable to maintain product liability insurance in the future at satisfactory rates or with adequate amounts. A
product liability claim, any product recalls or excessive warranty claims, whether arising from defects in design or manufacture or
otherwise, could negatively affect our sales or require a change in the design or manufacturing process, any of which could harm our
reputation and business, harm our relationship with licensors of our products, result in a decline in revenue and harm our business.
In addition, if a product we or a strategic partner design is defective, whether due to design or manufacturing defects, improper use of the
product or other reasons, we or our strategic partners may be required to notify regulatory authorities and/or to recall the product. A
required notification to a regulatory authority or recall could result in an investigation by regulatory authorities of products incorporating
our technology, which could in turn result in required recalls, restrictions on the sale of such products or other penalties. The adverse
publicity resulting from any of these actions could adversely affect the perception of our customers and potential customers. These
investigations or recalls, especially if accompanied by unfavorable publicity, could result in our incurring substantial costs, losing revenues
and damaging our reputation, each of which would harm our business.
We are subject to risks associated with our utilization of consultants.
To improve productivity and accelerate our development efforts while we build out our own engineering team, we use experienced
consultants to assist in selected business functions, including the development of our ASPPs. We take steps to monitor and regulate the
performance of these independent third parties. However, arrangements with third party service providers may make our operations
vulnerable if these consultants fail to satisfy their obligations to us as a result of their performance, changes in their own operations,
financial condition, or other matters outside of our control. Effective management of our consultants is important to our business and
strategy. The failure of our consultants to perform as anticipated could result in substantial costs, divert management’s attention from other
strategic activities, or create other operational or financial problems for us. Terminating or transitioning arrangements with key consultants
could result in additional costs and a risk of operational delays, potential errors and possible control issues as a result of the termination or
during the transition.
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We expect to depend on consumer electronics supply chain firms to manufacture, market and distribute our technology under
development. If these strategic partners fail to successfully manufacture, market and distribute our technology under development, our
business will be materially harmed.
We currently intend to both supply our semiconductor chips, antennas and related technology directly and license our system architecture,
proprietary waveform, antenna designs to consumer electronics supply chain firms. rather than manufacture our technology under
development ourselves. We will not be able to control the efforts and resources these consumer electronics supply chain firms would devote
to marketing our technology under development or other future products. Those third parties may not be able to successfully market and
sell the products they develop based on our technology, may not devote sufficient time and resources to support the marketing and selling
efforts and may not market those products at prices that will permit the products to develop, achieve or sustain market acceptance. Finding
new licensors could be an expensive and time-consuming process and we may not be able to find suitable consumer electronics supply
chain firms and other distribution strategic partners on acceptable terms or at all. If we cannot find suitable third party partners or our third
party partners experience difficulties, do not actively market our technology under development or future products or do not otherwise
perform under our license agreements, our potential for revenue may be dramatically reduced, and our business could be harmed.
If we become a supplier of our proprietary ASSPs, we will be subject to risks associated with overseas manufacturing.
Part of our business strategy includes selling our proprietary ASSPs directly to consumer electronics companies and the manufacturers of
their component parts. If we pursue this strategy, we will be reliant on third-party overseas manufacturers to manufacture our ASSPs. We
cannot be certain that our unaffiliated manufacturers will be able to fill our orders in a timely manner. If we experience significant increases
in demand, or need to replace an existing manufacturer, there can be no assurance that additional manufacturing capacity will be available
when required on terms that are acceptable to us, or at all, or that any manufacturer would allocate sufficient capacity to us in order to meet
our requirements. In addition, even if we are able to expand existing or find new manufacturing, we may encounter delays in production
and added costs as a result of the time it takes to train manufacturers in our methods, products, quality control standards, and labor, health
and safety standards. Any delays, interruption or increased costs in the manufacture of our ASSPs could have an adverse effect on our
ability to meet customer demand for our products and harm our business.
Because independent manufacturers would manufacture our ASSPs outside of our principal sales markets, our products would need to be
transported by third parties over large geographic distances. Delays in the shipment or delivery of our products due to the availability of
transportation, work stoppages, port strikes, infrastructure congestion, or other factors, and costs and delays associated with consolidating
or transitioning between manufacturers, could adversely impact our financial performance. In addition, manufacturing delays or
unexpected demand for our products may require us to use faster, but more expensive, transportation methods such as aircraft, which could
adversely affect our profit margins.
We intend to pursue licensing of our technology as a primary means of commercialization but we may not be able to secure
advantageous license agreements. If we are not able to secure advantageous license agreements, our business and results of operations
will be adversely affected.
We are pursuing the licensing of our technology as a primary means of commercialization. We believe there are many companies that
would be interested in implementing our technology into their devices. Many of these companies are well-known, world-wide companies.
We have entered into one product development and license agreement with a tier-one consumer electronics company that has the potential
to yield license revenue. In addition, we have also entered into a number of evaluation and joint development agreements with potential
strategic partners. However, these agreements do not commit either party to a long-term relationship and any of these parties may
disengage with us at any time. Creating a license or other business relationship with these classes of companies will take a substantial
effort, as we expect to have to convince them of the efficacy of our technology, meet their design and manufacturing requirements, satisfy
their marketing and product needs, and comply with their selection, review and contracting requirements. There can be no assurance that
we will be able to gain entry to these companies, or that they will ultimately decide to integrate our technology with their products. We may
not be able to secure license agreements with customers on terms that are advantageous to us. Furthermore, the timing and volume of
revenue earned from license agreements will be outside of our control. If the license agreements we enter into do not prove to be
advantageous to us, our business and results of operations will be adversely affected.
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We may not be able to develop a technology that meets our development partner's specifications. Even if we succeed in developing a
technology that meets all the specifications in our Development and License Agreement, our development partner could decline to use
our technology in its products. Any of these events would have a material adverse effect on our business.
The terms of our only Development and License Agreement with a tier-one consumer products company require us to meet stringent
performance specifications and aggressive technical milestones. While we are devoting substantial corporate time and resources to the
development of our technology for this company’s products, there can be no assurance that we can meet the performance specifications and
technical milestones in the timeframe required by the Development and License Agreement or at all. Further, the decision to embed our
technology within its products is completely in our development partner’s discretion and it could decline to use our technology in its
products even if we meet all the performance specifications and technical milestones set forth in the agreement. Additionally, the
Development and License Agreement prohibits us from the development of our technology for certain product categories until one year
following our development partner’s introduction of products with our technology embedded in those categories to consumers. If we are
unable to meet the stringent performance specifications and aggressive technical milestones required by the Development and License
Agreement or our development partner declines to embed our technology in its products, our business could be significantly harmed in the
absence of additional license agreements that equal or exceed the potential of this agreement. The harm to our business resulting from
either of these scenarios will exacerbated by the fact that we have agreed to limited exclusivity in certain product categories with our
development partner.
We are highly dependent on certain key members of our executive management team. Our inability to retain these individuals could
impede our business plan and growth strategies, which could have a negative impact on our business and the value of your investment.
Our ability to implement our business plan depends, to a critical extent, on the continued efforts and services of Stephen Rizzone (President
and Chief Executive Officer), Michael Leabman (Chief Technology Officer), Brian Sereda (Chief Financial Officer), and Cesar Johnston
(Senior Vice President of Engineering). If we lose the services of any of these persons, we would likely be forced to expend significant
time and money in the pursuit of replacements, which may result in a delay in the implementation of our business plan and plan of
operations. We can give no assurance that we could find satisfactory replacements for these individuals on terms that would not be unduly
expensive or burdensome to us. We do not currently carry a key-man life insurance policy that would assist us in recouping our costs in the
event of the death or disability of any of these executives.
Our long-term success and growth strategy depend on our ability to attract, integrate and retain high-level engineering talent.
Because of the highly specialized and complex nature of our business, our success and future growth also depends on management’s ability
to attract, hire, train, integrate and retain high-level engineering talent. Competition for such personnel is intense as we compete for talent
as a pre-revenue company against many large profitable companies and our inability to adequately staff our operations with highly qualified
and well-trained engineers could render us less efficient and impede our ability to develop and deliver a commercial product. Such a
competitive market could put upward pressure on labor costs for engineering talent. In addition, rising costs associated with certain
employee benefits, in particular employee health coverage, could limit our ability to provide certain employee benefits in the future. If we
are unable to provide a competitive employee benefits package, including continuing equity incentive grants, recruiting and retaining
qualified personnel may become more difficult.
Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock
You may lose all of your investment.
Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. As an investor, you may never recoup all, or even part of, your investment
and you may never realize any return on your investment. You must be prepared to lose all of your investment.
Our stock price could be volatile and investors may have difficulty selling their shares.
Our common stock is currently listed on The NASDAQ Capital Market under the symbol “WATT.” For the period from March 28, 2014
when trading began on The NASDAQ Capital Market through March 9, 2016, the daily trading volume for shares of our common stock
ranged from 6,200 to 5,020,100 shares traded per day, and the average daily trading volume during such period was approximately 220,000
shares.
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The market price of the common stock has fluctuated significantly since it was first listed on The NASDAQ Capital Market on March 28,
2014. Since this date, through March 9, 2016, the intra-day trading price has fluctuated from a low of $3.65 to a high of $16.44. The price
of our common stock may continue to fluctuate significantly in response to factors, some of which are beyond our control, including the
following:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

actual or anticipated variations in operating results;
the limited number of holders of the common stock;
changes in the economic performance and/or market valuations of other technology companies;
our announcements of significant strategic partnerships or other events;
announcements by other companies in the wire-free charging space;
articles published or rumors circulated by third parties regarding our business, technology or development partners;
additions or departures of key personnel; and
sales or other transactions involving our capital stock, including sales that may occur following the termination of applicable lockup periods.

We are an “emerging growth company,” and are able to take advantage of reduced disclosure requirements applicable to “emerging
growth companies,” which could make our common stock less attractive to investors.
We are an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, or JOBS Act, and, for as long as
we continue to be an “emerging growth company,” we intend to take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements
applicable to other public companies but not to “emerging growth companies,” including, but not limited to, not being required to comply
with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive
compensation in our periodic reports and proxy statements, and exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote
on executive compensation and stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved. We could be an
“emerging growth company” for up to five years, or until the earliest of (i) the last day of the first fiscal year in which our annual gross
revenues exceed $1 billion, (ii) the date that we become a “large accelerated filer” as defined in Rule 12b-2 under the Exchange Act, which
would occur if the market value of our common stock that is held by non-affiliates exceeds $700.0 million as of the last business day of our
most recently completed second fiscal quarter, or (iii) the date on which we have issued more than $1 billion in non-convertible debt during
the preceding three year period. We cannot predict if investors will find our common stock less attractive if we choose to rely on these
exemptions. If some investors find our common stock less attractive as a result of any choices to reduce future disclosure, there may be a
less active trading market for our common stock and our stock price may be more volatile.
We have not paid dividends in the past and have no immediate plans to pay dividends.
We plan to reinvest all of our earnings, to the extent we have earnings, in order to market our products and technology and to cover
operating costs and to otherwise become and remain competitive. We do not plan to pay any cash dividends with respect to our securities in
the foreseeable future. We cannot assure you that we would, at any time, generate sufficient surplus cash that would be available for
distribution to the holders of our common stock as a dividend.
Concentration of ownership among our existing executive officers, directors and significant stockholders may prevent new investors
from influencing significant corporate decisions.
All decisions with respect to the management of the Company will be made by our board of directors and our officers, who collectively,
beneficially own approximately 6.0% of our common stock, as calculated in accordance with Rule 13d-3 promulgated under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934. In addition, other greater than 5% stockholders such as DvineWave which beneficially owns approximately 10.1%
of our common stock as of December 31, 2015 and AWM Investment Company Inc. which beneficially owns approximately 9% of our
common stock, as calculated in accordance with Rule 13d-3 promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. As a result, these
stockholders will be able to exercise a significant level of control over all matters requiring stockholder approval, including the election of
directors, amendment of our certificate of incorporation and approval of significant corporate transactions. This control could have the
effect of delaying or preventing a change of control of our Company or changes in management and will make the approval of certain
transactions difficult or impossible without the support of these stockholders.
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We expect to continue to incur significant costs as a result of being a public company that reports to the Securities and Exchange
Commission and our management will be required to devote substantial time to meet compliance obligations.
As a public company reporting to the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), we incur significant legal, accounting and other
expenses. We are subject to reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as well as
rules subsequently implemented by the SEC that impose significant requirements on public companies, including requiring establishment
and maintenance of effective disclosure and financial controls and changes in corporate governance practices. In addition, on July 21, 2010,
the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Protection Act was enacted. There are significant corporate governance and executive
compensation-related provisions in the Dodd-Frank Act that are expected to increase our legal and financial compliance costs, make some
activities more difficult, time-consuming or costly and may also place undue strain on our personnel, systems and resources. Our
management and other personnel are expected to devote a substantial amount of time to these new compliance initiatives. In addition, we
expect these rules and regulations to make it more difficult and more expensive for us to obtain director and officer liability insurance, and
we may be required to accept reduced policy limits and coverage or incur substantially higher costs to obtain the same or similar coverage.
As a result, it may be more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified people to serve on our board of directors, our board committees or
as executive officers.
We may be subject to securities litigation, which is expensive and could divert management attention.
Our stock price has fluctuated in the past and may be volatile in the future, and in the past, companies that have experienced volatility in the
market price of their stock have been subject to an increased incidence of securities class action litigation. We may be the target of this type
of litigation in the future. Securities litigation against us could result in substantial costs and divert our management’s attention from other
business concerns, which could seriously harm our business.
An active trading market for our common stock may not be maintained.
Our stock is currently traded on The NASDAQ Capital Market, but we can provide no assurance that we will be able to maintain an active
trading market on The NASDAQ Capital Market or any other exchange in the future. If an active market for our common stock is not
maintained, it may be difficult for our stockholders to sell shares without depressing the market price for the shares or at all. An inactive
market may also impair our ability to raise capital to continue to fund operations by selling shares and may impair our ability to acquire
other companies or technologies by using our shares as consideration.
If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or reports about our business, or publish negative reports about our business,
our stock price and trading volume could decline.
The trading market for our common stock will depend in part on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish about
us or our business. We do not have any control over these analysts. There can be no assurance that analysts will continue to cover us or
provide favorable coverage. If one or more of the analysts who cover us downgrade our stock or change their opinion of our stock, our
stock price would likely decline. If one or more of these analysts cease coverage of our company or fail to regularly publish reports on us,
we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which could cause our stock price or trading volume to decline.
Our charter documents and Delaware law may inhibit a takeover that stockholders consider favorable.
Provisions of our Certificate of Incorporation (or Certificate) and bylaws and applicable provisions of Delaware law may delay or
discourage transactions involving an actual or potential change in control or change in our management, including transactions in which
stockholders might otherwise receive a premium for their shares, or transactions that our stockholders might otherwise deem to be in their
best interests. The provisions in our Certificate and bylaws:
•
•
•
•
•

authorize our board of directors to issue preferred stock without stockholder approval and to designate the rights, preferences and
privileges of each class; if issued, such preferred stock would increase the number of outstanding shares of our capital stock and
could include terms that may deter an acquisition of us;
limit who may call stockholder meetings;
do not permit stockholders to act by written consent;
do not provide for cumulative voting rights; and
provide that all vacancies may be filled by the affirmative vote of a majority of directors then in office, even if less than a quorum.

In addition, Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law may limit our ability to engage in any business combination with a
person who beneficially owns 15% or more of our outstanding voting stock unless certain conditions are satisfied. This restriction lasts for
a period of three years following the share acquisition. These provisions may have the effect of entrenching our management team and may
deprive you of the opportunity to sell your shares to potential acquirers at a premium over prevailing prices. This potential inability to
obtain a control premium could reduce the price of our common stock.
20

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comment
Not applicable.
Item 2. Properties
On September 10, 2014, we entered into a Lease Agreement (the “Lease”) with Balzer Family Investments, L.P. (the “Landlord”) related to
space located at Northpointe Business Center, 3590 North First Street, San Jose, California. The initial term of the lease is 60 months, with
initial monthly base rent of $36,720 and the lease is subject to certain annual escalations as defined in the agreement. On October 1, 2014,
we relocated our headquarters to this new location. We issued to the Landlord 41,563 shares of the Company’s common stock valued at
$500,000, of which $400,000 will be applied to reduce our monthly base rent obligation by $6,732 per month and of which $100,000 was
for certain tenant improvements. We recorded $400,000 as prepaid rent on our balance sheet, which is being amortized over the term of the
lease and recorded $100,000 as leasehold improvements.
On February 26, 2015, we entered into a sub-lease agreement for additional space in the San Jose area. The agreement has a term which
expires on June 30, 2019 and an initial monthly rent of $6,109 per month. On August 25, 2015, we entered into an additional amended sublease agreement for additional space in San Jose, CA. The agreement has a term which expires on June 30, 2019 and an initial monthly rent
of $4,314 per month. These leases are subject to certain annual escalations as defined in the agreements.
On July 9, 2015, we entered into a sub-lease agreement for additional space in Costa Mesa, CA. The agreement has a term which expires
on September 30, 2017 and an initial monthly rent of $6,376 per month. This lease is subject to certain annual escalations as defined in the
agreement.
Item 3. Legal Proceedings
We are not currently a party to any pending legal proceedings that we believe will have a material adverse effect on our business or
financial conditions. We may, however, be subject to various claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business from time
to time.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.
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PART II
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Our shares of common stock are listed on the NASDAQ Capital Market under the symbol “WATT.” The table below provides, for the
fiscal quarters indicated, the reported high and low closing sales prices for our common stock on the NASDAQ Capital Market since
March 28, 2014.
Price Range
Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2014
First Quarter (beginning March 28)
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter
Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2015
First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

High

Low

$
$
$
$

14.75
15.57
14.60
11.46

$
$
$
$

10.58
10.53
10.01
7.25

$
$
$
$

12.16
9.58
8.40
8.84

$
$
$
$

8.63
6.98
5.90
6.57

As of December 31, 2015, there were 22 holders of record of our common stock. We believe we have significantly more beneficial holders
of our common stock.
We have never paid cash dividends on our securities and we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends on our shares of common stock in
the foreseeable future. We intend to retain any future earnings for reinvestment in our business. Any future determination to pay cash
dividends will be at the discretion of our board of directors, and will be dependent upon our financial condition, results of operations,
capital requirements and such other factors as our board of directors deems relevant.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data
The data set forth below should be read in conjunction with Item 7 – “Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations” and the Company’s Financial Statements and notes thereto.

2015

2014

2013

Selected data from the Statements of Operations:
Revenue
Loss from operations
Change in fair value of derivative liabilities
Net loss
Basic and diluted net loss per common share

$
2,500,000 $
- $
$ (27,577,339) $ (20,374,709) $
$
- $ (26,265,177) $
$ (27,561,702) $ (45,603,110) $
$
(2.07) $
(5.75) $

Selected data from Balance Sheets:
Total Assets
Convertible promissory notes and derivative liabilities

$
$

32,675,528
-

$
$

33,828,923
-

$
$

(4,435,470)
(5,521,081)
(2.11)
2,365,867
7,106,298

The Company has had no long-term liabilities, preferred stock or dividends declared.
Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Overview
We are developing a technology called WattUp® that consists of proprietary semiconductor chipsets, software, hardware designs and
antennas that can enable RF-based wire-free charging for electronic devices, providing power at a distance and ultimately enabling
charging with mobility under full software control. Our anticipated business model is to supply silicon components with reference designs
and license our WattUp technology to device and chip manufacturers, wireless service providers and other commercial partners to make
wire-free charging an affordable, ubiquitous and convenient option for end users. We believe our proprietary technology can potentially be
utilized in a variety of devices, including wearables, Internet of Things (“IoT”) devices, smartphones, tablets, e-book readers, keyboards,
mice, remote controls, rechargeable lights, cylindrical batteries and any other device with similar charging requirements that would
otherwise need a battery or a connection to a power outlet.
We believe our technology is novel in its approach, in that we are developing a solution that charges electronic devices by surrounding
them with a contained three dimensional (“3D”) radio frequency (“RF”) energy pocket (“RF energy pocket”). We are engineering solutions
that we expect to enable the wire-free transmission of energy from multiple WattUp transmitters to multiple WattUp receiving devices
within a range of up to fifteen (15) feet in radius or in a circular charging envelope of up to thirty (30) feet. We are also developing our
transmitter technology to seamlessly mesh, (much like a network of WiFi routers) to form a wire-free charging network that will allow
users to charge their devices as they walk from room-to-room or throughout a large space. To date, we have developed multiple transmitter
prototypes in various form factors and power capabilities. We have also developed multiple receiver prototypes including smartphone
battery cases, toys, fitness trackers, Bluetooth headsets as well as stand-alone receivers.
When the company was first founded, we recognized the need to build and design an enterprise-class network management and control
system (“NMS”) that was integral to the architecture and development of our wire-free charging technology. Our NMS system can be
scaled up to control an enterprise consisting of thousands of devices or scaled down to work in a home or IoT environment.
The power, distance and mobility capabilities of the WattUp technology were validated independently by Underwriters Laboratories (UL)
in October, 2015 and the results published on both the UL and the Energous websites.
Our technology solution consists principally of transmitter and receiver application specific standard product (“ASSPs”) and novel antenna
designs driven through innovative algorithms and software applications. We submitted our first ASSP design for wafer fabrication in
November 2013 and have since then been developing multiple generations of transmitter and receiver ASSPs, multiple antenna designs, as
well as algorithms and software designs that we believe, in the aggregate, will optimize our technology by reducing size and cost, while
increasing performance to a level that will enable our technology to be integrated into a broad spectrum of devices. We have developed a
“building block” approach which allows us to scale our product implementations by combining multiple transmitter building blocks and/or
multiple receiver building blocks to provide the power, distance, size and cost performance necessary to meet application requirements.
While the technology is very scalable, in order to provide the necessary strategic focus to grow the company effectively, we have defined
our market as devices that require 10 watts or less of power to charge. We will continue to invest in ASSP development as well as in the
other components of the WattUp system to improve product performance, efficiency, cost-performance and miniaturization as required to
grow the business and expand the ecosystem while also building competitive barriers to any potential competition.
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We believe that if our development, regulatory and commercialization efforts are successful, our transmitter and receiver technology will
support a broad spectrum of charging solutions ranging from contact-based charging or charging at distances of no more than a few
centimeters (“nearfield”) to charging at distances of up to 15 feet (“farfield”).
In February of 2015 we signed a Development and License Agreement with one of the top consumer electronic companies in the world
based on total worldwide revenues. The agreement is milestone-based and, while there are no guarantees that the WattUp® technology will
ever be integrated into our strategic partner’s consumer devices, we continue to progress the relationship as evidenced by the achievement
of our first revenues in late 2015 from Engineering Services resulting from the achievement of certain milestones under the agreement. We
anticipate continued progress with the relationship which we expect will result in additional Engineering Services Revenue and ultimately,
if fully executed, significant revenues from royalties based on the WattUp® technology being integrated into products being shipped to the
consumer.
In February of 2016 we began delivering evaluation kits to potential licensees to allow their respective engineering and product
management departments to test and evaluate our technology. We expect that the testing and evaluations currently taking place will lead to
an expansion of our licensing partners and will result in products beginning to be shipped to the consumer in late 2016/early 2017.
We have implemented an aggressive intellectual property strategy and are continuing to pursue patent protection for new innovations. As of
March 14, 2016, we had in excess of 250 pending patent and provisional patent applications. Additionally, the U.S. Patent and Trademark
Office (or the PTO) has issued our first five patents and notified us of the allowance of three additional patents. In addition to the
inventions covered by these patents and patent applications, we have identified a significant number of additional specific inventions we
believe are novel and patentable. We intend to file for patent protection for the most valuable of these, as well as for other new inventions
that we expect to develop. Our strategy is to continually monitor the costs and benefits of each patent application and pursue those that will
best protect our business and expand the core value of the Company.
Critical Accounting Estimates and Policies
The following discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations is based upon our financial statements, which have
been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Certain accounting policies and
estimates are particularly important to the understanding of our financial position and results of operations and require the application of
significant judgment by our management or can be materially affected by changes from period to period in economic factors or conditions
that are outside of our control. As a result, they are subject to an inherent degree of uncertainty. In applying these policies, our management
uses their judgment to determine the appropriate assumptions to be used in the determination of certain estimates. Those estimates are
based on our historical operations, our future business plans and projected financial results, the terms of existing contracts, our observance
of trends in the industry, information provided by our customers and information available from other outside sources, as appropriate.
Please see Note 3 to our financial statements for a more complete description of our significant accounting policies.
Basis of Presentation. The accompanying audited financial statements and footnotes for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 have
been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”) and applicable
rules and regulations of the SEC regarding financial information.
Revenue Recognition. We recognize revenue when the following criteria have been met: persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists,
services have been rendered, collection of the revenue is reasonably assured, and the fees are fixed or determinable.
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We record revenue associated with product development projects that we enter into with certain customers. In general, these projects are
associated with complex technology development, and as such we do not have certainty about our ability to achieve the program
milestones. Achievement of the milestone is dependent on our performance and the milestone typically needs to be accepted by the
customer. The payment associated with achieving the milestone is generally commensurate with our effort or the value of the deliverable
and is nonrefundable. We record the expenses related to these projects, generally included in research and development expense, in the
periods incurred.
We also receive nonrefundable payments, typically at the beginning of a customer relationship, for which there are no milestones. We
recognize this revenue ratably over the initial engineering product development period. We record the expenses related to these projects,
generally included in research and development expense, in the periods incurred.
During the year ended December 31, 2015, we recorded revenue of $2,500,000. We recorded no revenue prior to 2015.
Research and Development. Research and development expenses are charged to operations as incurred. For internally developed patents, all
patent application costs are expensed as incurred as research and development expense. Patent application costs, generally legal costs, are
expensed as research and development costs until such time as the future economic benefits of such patents become more certain. The
Company incurred research and development costs of $18,825,041, $12,511,647 and $2,109,890 for the years ended December 31, 2015,
2014 and 2013, respectively.
Income Taxes. The Company recognizes deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of items that have been
included or excluded in the financial statements or tax returns. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined on the basis of the
difference between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their respective financial reporting amounts (“temporary differences”) at
enacted tax rates in effect for the years in which the temporary differences are expected to reverse.
For the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, the Company had $18,825,041, $11,519,390 and $2,095,367, respectively, of
research and development expenses capitalized for federal income tax purposes, with amortization commencing upon the Company
receiving an economic benefit from the related research. As of December 31, 2015, the Company had $18,871,801 gross federal and state
net operating loss carryovers (“NOLs”) and a tax credit carryover of $2,041,385. As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, deferred tax assets
consisted principally of net operating loss and tax credit carryovers, the research and development costs and stock-based compensation, and
such deferred tax assets were fully reserved. Accordingly, the Company’s effective tax rate for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014
and 2013 was 0%.
Internal Revenue Code Section 382 imposes limitations on the use of net operating loss carryovers when the stock ownership of one or
more 5% shareholders (shareholders owning 5% or more of the Company’s outstanding capital stock) has increased on a cumulative basis
by more than 50 percentage points. Management cannot control the ownership changes occurring as a result of public trading of the
Company’s Common Stock. Accordingly, there is a risk of an ownership change beyond the control of the Company that could trigger a
limitation of the use of the loss carryover. As of December 31, 2015, the Company has not completed an analysis whether an ownership
change occurred under Section 382, which, if it did occur, could substantially limit its ability in the future to utilize its NOLs and other tax
carryforwards.
In assessing the realization of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the
deferred tax assets will be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the future generation of taxable
income during the periods in which those temporary differences become deductible. Management considers the scheduled reversal of
deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, and taxing strategies in making this assessment. Based on this assessment,
management has established a full valuation allowance against all of the net deferred tax assets for each period, since it is more likely than
not that all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.
Tax benefits are recognized only for tax positions that are more likely than not to be sustained upon examination by tax authorities. The
amount recognized is measured as the largest amount of benefit that is greater than 50 percent likely to be realized upon settlement. A
liability for “unrecognized tax benefits” is recorded for any tax benefits claimed in the Company’s tax returns that do not meet these
recognition and measurement standards. As of December 31, 2015, and 2014, no liability for unrecognized tax benefits was required to be
reported. The guidance also discusses the classification of related interest and penalties on income taxes. The Company’s policy is to record
interest and penalties on uncertain tax positions as a component of income tax expense. No interest or penalties were recorded for the years
ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013.
Common Stock Purchase Warrants and Other Derivative Financial Instruments. The Company classifies as equity any contracts that (i)
require physical settlement or net-share settlement or (ii) provides a choice of net-cash settlement or settlement in the Company’s own
shares (physical settlement or net-share settlement) providing that such contracts are indexed to the Company’s own stock as defined in
ASC 815-40 “Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity” (“ASC 815-40”). The Company classifies as assets or liabilities any contracts that (i)
require net-cash settlement (including a requirement to net cash settle the contract if an event occurs and if that event is outside the
Company’s control) or (ii) gives the counterparty a choice of net-cash settlement or settlement in shares (physical settlement or net-share
settlement). The Company assesses classification of common stock purchase warrants and other free standing derivatives at each reporting
date to determine whether a change in classification between assets and liabilities or equity is required.
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Results of Operations
For the Years Ended December 31, 2015 and 2014
Revenues. During the year ended December 31, 2015, we recorded revenue of $2,500,000 upon the achievement of milestones under a
development and licensing agreement. We recorded no revenue in 2014.
Operating Expenses. During 2015, operating expenses are made up of research and development, general and administrative and marketing
expenses. Operating expenses for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 were $30,077,339 and $20,374,709, respectively.
Research and Development Costs. Research and development costs include costs for developing our technology such as ASSP design costs,
salaries, software and facility costs. Research and development costs for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 were $18,825,041
and $12,511,647, respectively. The increase in research and development costs of $6,313,394 is primarily due to a $6,324,357 increase in
compensation (including an increase in stock-based compensation of $1,892,005) from a larger headcount within the department, a
$698,690 increase in spending on components, third party design and engineering supplies principally in support of ASSP development, a
$543,928 increase in depreciation allocation, a $477,271 increase in office rent allocation and a $306,694 increase in software expenses
primarily from increased expenditures on engineering software, partially offset by a $1,460,768 decrease in consulting expenses as a result
of employees now handling duties formerly performed by consultants and a $719,224 decrease in patent filing expenses.
Sales and Marketing Costs. Sales and marketing costs for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 were $3,221,303 and $2,803,359,
respectively. The increase in sales and marketing costs of $417,944 is primarily due to increased compensation of $339,355, including
increased stock-based compensation of $146,091, from an increased headcount within the department and an increase of $167,074 in trade
show expenses primarily as a result of participating in the 2015 Consumer Electronics Show, a $106,520 increase in public relations fees, a
$73,061 increase in depreciation allocation, a $41,516 increase in office rent allocation, partially offset by a $359,979 decrease in consulting
expenses primarily as a result of employees handling duties formerly performed by consultants.
General and Administrative Expenses. General and administrative expenses include costs for general and corporate functions, including
facility fees, travel, telecommunications, insurance, professional fees, consulting fees and other overhead. General and administrative costs
for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 were $8,030,995 and $5,059,703, respectively. The increase in general and administrative
expense of $2,971,292 is primarily due to a $2,294,644 increase in compensation, including stock-based compensation increase of
$1,365,340, from increased headcount within the department and newly executed executive agreements in place during 2015, a $445,967
increase in legal, accounting and insurance costs primarily as a result of operating as a public company during the year ended December 31,
2015 and a $131,560 increase in consulting and outside information technology (IT) services, primarily as a result of increased outside IT
services to support a larger staff and fees paid to members of the board of directors.
Loss from Operations. Loss from operations for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 was $27,577,339 and $20,374,709,
respectively.
Change in Fair Value of Derivative Liabilities. Change in fair value of derivative liabilities for the year ended December 31, 2015 was $0
as compared to $26,265,177 for the year ended December 31, 2014, as the derivative liabilities were extinguished during the year ended
December 31, 2014.
Interest Income (Expense), Net. Interest income for the year ended December 31, 2015 was $15,637 as compared to interest expense, net
of $1,024,774 for the year ended December 31, 2014 which included amortization of debt discount of $0 and $964,851, respectively. The
change in interest income (expense), net, resulted primarily from the reduction in interest on the convertible notes, including the
amortization of debt discount. The related convertible notes were extinguished in April 2014 and accordingly there was no similar
amortization during the year ended December 31, 2015.
Gain on Debt Extinguishment. Gain on debt extinguishment for the year ended December 31, 2015 was $0 as compared to $2,084,368 for
the year ended December 31, 2014. The gain on debt extinguishment resulted from the April 2014 conversion of the convertible notes and
the related extinguishment of the notes, accrued interest payable and the derivative liability.
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Net Loss. As a result of the above, net loss for the year ended December 31, 2015 was $27,561,702 as compared to $45,603,110 for the
year ended December 31, 2014.
For the Years Ended December 31, 2014 and 2013
Revenues. We recorded no revenue in 2014 or 2013.
Operating Expenses. During 2014, operating expenses were made up of derivative instrument issuance, research, development, general and
administrative and marketing expenses. Loss from operations for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 was $20,374,709 and
$4,435,470, respectively.
Derivative Issuance Expense. Derivative instrument issuance expense was $0 and $887,062 for the years ended December 31, 2014 and
2013, respectively.
Research and Development Costs. Research and development costs for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 were $12,511,647 and
$2,109,890, respectively. The increase is primarily due to a $3,287,398 increase in compensation, including stock-based compensation of
$924,702, from a larger headcount within the department, a $3,575,586 increase in spending on components, design and engineering
supplies for the demonstration units at the Consumer Electronics Show (“CES”), a $1,051,158 increase in legal costs related to patent
application filings and a $2,193,539 increase in hardware and software consulting expenses related to preparation for the demonstration unit
presented at CES.
General and Administrative Expenses. General and administrative expenses include costs for general and corporate functions, including
facility fees, travel, telecommunications, insurance, professional fees, consulting fees and other overhead. General and administrative costs
for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 were $5,059,703 and $1,204,896, respectively. The increase is primarily due to a
$1,546,656 increase in compensation, including stock-based compensation of $1,023,890, from adding two new employees within the
department and the retention of a full-time Chief Executive Officer for the entire year in 2014, a $749,581 increase in investor relations and
consulting costs, a $159,144 increase in insurance costs, primarily as a result of larger D&O premiums, a $188,021 increase in facilities
costs, primarily from increased office rent after relocation to the San Jose facility, a $444,762 increase in recruiting costs related to our
efforts to recruit and retain certain key employees and an increase of $368,088 in depreciation expense as a result of our acceleration in
capital purchases during the second half of 2014.
Marketing Costs. Marketing costs for the years ended December 31,2014 and 2013 were $2,803,359 and $233,622, respectively. The
increase is primarily due to increased compensation of $1,346,077, including stock-based compensation of $583,238, from hiring five
additional employees to the department during 2014, an increase of $662,448 in public relations and consulting expenses and an increase of
$256,368 in travel costs associated with the preparation of CES and meetings with potential customers and strategic partners.
Loss from Operations. Loss from operations for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 was $20,374,709 and $4,435,470,
respectively.
Change in Fair Value of Derivative Liabilities. Change in fair value of derivative liabilities for the years ended December 31, 2014 and
2013 was $26,265,177 and $177,000 respectively.
Interest Expense. Interest expense for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 was $1,024,774 and $908,611, respectively, and
included amortization of debt discount for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 of $964,851 and $705,289, respectively.
Gain on Debt Extinguishment. Gain on debt extinguishment for the years ended December 31, 2014 was $2,084,368 as compared to $0 for
the year ended December 31, 2013. The gain on debt extinguishment resulted from the conversion of the convertible notes and the related
extinguishment of the notes, accrued interest payable and the derivative liability.
Net Loss. Net loss for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 was $45,603,110 and $5,521,081, respectively.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
During years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, we recorded revenue of $2,500,000 and $0, respectively. We incurred a net loss of
$27,561,702 and $45,603,110 for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Net cash used in operating activities was
$20,005,734 and $15,606,423 for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Since inception, we have met our liquidity
requirements principally through the private placement of convertible notes, the sale of our common stock in a registered initial public
offering, the sale of our common stock to a strategic investor, the issuance of our common stock to the Company’s landlord to reduce its
monthly base rent obligation and pay for certain tenant improvements, the sale of common stock in two secondary offerings and payments
received under product development projects entered into with customers.
As of December 31, 2015, we had cash and cash equivalents of $29,872,564.
We believe our current cash on hand, together with anticipated payments received under product development projects entered into with
customers, will be sufficient to fund our operations into the second quarter of 2017. However, depending on how soon we are able to
achieve meaningful commercial revenues we may require additional financing to fully implement our business plan, the ultimate goal of
which is to license our technology to device manufacturers, wireless service providers and other commercial partners to make wire-free
charging an affordable, ubiquitous and convenient service for end users. Potential financing sources could include follow-on equity
offerings, debt financing, co-development agreements or other alternatives. Depending upon market conditions, we may choose to pursue
additional financing to, among other reasons, accelerate our product development efforts, regulatory activities and business development
and support functions with a view to capitalizing on the market opportunity we see for our wire-free charging technology. On April 24,
2015, we filed a “shelf” registration statement on Form S-3, which became effective on April 30, 2015. The “shelf” registration statement
allows the Company from time to time to sell any combination of debt or equity securities described in the registration statement up to
aggregate proceeds of $75,000,000. In November 2015, the Company consummated an offering under the shelf registration of 3,000,005
shares of common stock through which the Company raised net proceeds of $19,048,456.
During the year ended December, 2015, cash flows used in operating activities were $20,005,734, consisting of a net loss of $27,561,702,
less non-cash expenses aggregating $6,849,927 (representing principally stock-based compensation of $5,951,414 and depreciation
expense of $817,729), a $157,769 increase in prepaid expenses and other current assets, partially offset by an increase of $608,962 in
accounts payable and an increase of $283,530 in accrued expenses. During the year ended December 31, 2014, cash flows used in
operating activities were $15,606,423, consisting of a net loss of $45,603,110, offset by non-cash expenses of $28,107,841 and net changes
in operating assets and liabilities of $1,888,846.
During the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, cash flows used in investing activities were $1,032,795 and $1,619,694,
respectively. The cash used for year ended December 31, 2015 consisted of the purchase of laboratory and computer equipment and
software to accommodate newly hired employees and to support engineering services and testing performed for our customers.
During the year ended December 31, 2015, cash flows provided by financing activities were $19,416,501, which consisted of proceeds
from the offering under the shelf registration of $19,048,456, proceeds from contributions to the employee stock purchase program
(“ESPP”) of $289,787, proceeds from the exercise of stock options of $65,647 and proceeds from the disgorgement of profit from the sale
of stock of $12,611. During the year ended December 31, 2014, cash flows provided by financing activities were $46,766,929 and
consisted principally of the net proceeds from our IPO of $24,872,170, net proceeds from the secondary offering of $20,993,759 and net
proceeds of $900,000 from the sale of our common stock to a strategic investor.
Research and development of new technologies is, by its nature, unpredictable. Although we will undertake development efforts with
commercially reasonable diligence, there can be no assurance that our available resources including the net proceeds from our public
offerings will be sufficient to enable us to develop our technology to the extent needed to create future revenues to sustain our operations.
We cannot assure that our technology will be adopted, that we will ever earn revenues sufficient to support our operations, or that we will
ever be profitable. Furthermore, since we have no committed source of financing, there can be no assurance that we will be able to raise
capital as and when we need it to continue our operations.
Contractual Obligations
In the ordinary course of business, we routinely enter into purchase commitments for various aspects of our operations, such as purchases
of engineering supplies, lab equipment, chip design engineering, engineering consulting services and software licenses. We do not believe
these commitments will have a material effect on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.
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The following table summarizes our contractual obligations at December 31, 2015 and the effect such obligations are expected to have on
our liquidity and cash flows in future periods:
Less than 1
Year

Total
Operating leases
Engineering software commitment
Total

$
$

2,005,214
1,782,945
3,788,159

$
$

529,309
792,420
1,321,729

More than 3
Years

1 to 3 Years
$
$

1,475,905
990,525
2,466,430

$

-

$

Off-Balance Sheet Transactions
We do not have any off-balance sheet transactions.
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.
In the ordinary course of business, we may be exposed to certain market risks, such as interest rates. The annual impact of our results of
operations of a 100 basis point interest rate change on December 31, 2015 would be minimal. After an assessment of these risks to our
operations, we believe that the primary market risk exposures (within the meaning of Regulation S-K Item 305) are not material and are not
expected to have any material adverse impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows for the next fiscal year.
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.
Energous Corporation
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
of Energous Corporation
We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Energous Corporation (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 and the
related statements of operations, changes in stockholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and
2013. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial
reporting. Our audit included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for
our opinion.
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Energous
Corporation as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2015,
2014 and 2013 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
/s/ Marcum LLP
Marcum LLP
Melville, NY
March 15, 2016
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Energous Corporation
BALANCE SHEETS
As of December 31,
2015
2014
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Prepaid rent, current
Total current assets

$

Property and equipment, net
Prepaid rent, non-current
Other assets
Total assets

$

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Total current liabilities

$

29,872,564
722,249
80,784
30,675,597
1,730,365
218,236
51,330
32,675,528

2,324,973
1,075,879
3,400,852

$

$

$

31,494,592
416,580
80,784
31,991,956
1,515,299
299,020
22,648
33,828,923

1,716,011
792,349
2,508,360

Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity
Preferred Stock, $0.00001 par value, 10,000,000 shares authorized at December 31, 2015
and 2014; no shares issued or outstanding
Common Stock, $0.00001 par value, 50,000,000 shares authorized at December 31, 2015
and 2014; 16,298,208 and 12,781,502 shares issued and outstanding
at December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

161
107,981,695
(78,707,180)
29,274,676
$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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-

32,675,528

127
82,465,914
(51,145,478)
31,320,563
$

33,828,923

Energous Corporation
STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

2015
Revenue

$

Operating expenses:
Derivative instrument issuance
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Other income (expenses):
Change in fair value of derivative liabilities
Interest income (expense), net
Loss on retirement of fixed assets
Gain on debt extinguishment
Total

For the Year Ended December 31,
2014
2013

2,500,000

$

-

$

-

18,825,041
3,221,303
8,030,995
30,077,339

12,511,647
2,803,359
5,059,703
20,374,709

887,062
2,109,890
233,622
1,204,896
4,435,470

(27,577,339)

(20,374,709)

(4,435,470)

(26,265,177)
(1,024,774)
(22,818)
2,084,368
(25,228,401)

(177,000)
(908,611)
(1,085,611)

15,637
15,637

Net loss

$

(27,561,702) $

(45,603,110) $

(5,521,081)

Basic and diluted loss per common share

$

(2.07) $

(5.75) $

(2.11)

Weighted average shares outstanding, basic and diluted

13,303,715

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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7,933,791

2,617,022

Energous Corporation
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)

Balance at January 1, 2013
Common stock sold on January 28, 2013 to founder at
$0.0052 per share
Common stock sold on March 4, 2013 to affiliate of a
director at $0.24 per share
Common stock sold on May 7, 2013 to third party
investor at $0.24 per share
Restricted common stock sold on May 14, 2013 under
the 2013 Stock Plan of DvineWave, Inc. to consultant
at $0.40 per share
Repurchase and retirement of restricted common stock
from consultant on November 30, 2013 at $0.40 per share
Stock-based compensation - stock options
Net loss
Balance at December 31, 2013
Stock-based compensation - stock options
Stock-based compensation - IR consultant warrant
Stock-based compensation - consultant
restricted stock units ("RSUs")
Stock-based compensation - shares issued to
consultant for services rendered
Issuance of shares to strategic investor,
net of commission expense
Initial public offering on April 2, 2014, net of
underwriter's discount and offering costs of $2,816,149
Conversion of convertible notes on April 2, 2014
Sale of IPO underwriter warrant on April 2, 2014
Extinguishment of derivative for consulting warrant
and financing warrant on June 25, 2014
Shares issued to landlord for prepaid rent
Secondary offering on December 15, 2014, net of
underwriter's discount and offering costs of $2,006,239
Net loss
Balance, December 31, 2014
Issuance of shares for services
Stock-based compensation - stock options
Stock-based compensation - IR warrants
Stock-based compensation - restricted stock units ("RSUs")
Stock-based compensation - employee stock
purchase plan ("ESPP")
Stock-based compensation - performance share units ("PSUs")
Issuance of shares for RSUs
Issuance of shares for PSUs
Exercise of stock options
Disgorgement on account of short swing profit
Cashless exercise of warrants
Shares purchased from contributions to the ESPP
Secondary offering on November 20, 2015, net of
underwriter's discount and offering costs of $1,651,578
Net loss
Balance, December 31, 2015

Additional
Total
Paid-in
Accumulated Stockholders'
Common Stock
Shares
Amount
Capital
Deficit
Equity
1,924,813 $
19 $
9,981 $
(21,287) $
(11,287)
80,201

1

416

-

417

668,338

7

159,993

-

160,000

20,051

-

4,800

-

4,800

88,882

1

35,463

-

35,464

(74,068)
2,708,217 $
-

(1)
27 $
-

(29,552)
16,148
(5,521,081)
197,249 $ (5,542,368) $
1,333,943
263,972
-

(29,553)
16,148
(5,521,081)
(5,345,092)
1,333,943
263,972

-

-

900,063

-

900,063

5,353

-

50,000

-

50,000

210,527

2

899,998

-

900,000

4,600,000
1,930,128
-

46
19
-

24,783,805
26,790,158
1,000

-

24,783,851
26,790,177
1,000

41,563

-

5,752,000
500,000

-

5,752,000
500,000

3,285,714
12,781,502 $
15,000
304,340
1,072
21,786
128,480
46,023
3,000,005
16,298,208 $

33
20,993,726
20,993,759
(45,603,110)
(45,603,110)
127 $ 82,465,914 $ (51,145,478) $ 31,320,563
147,900
147,900
1,037,399
1,037,399
85,831
85,831
4,225,728
4,225,728
3
1
-

113,217
489,239
(3)
65,647
12,611
(1)
289,787

113,217
489,239
65,647
12,611
289,787

30
19,048,426
19,048,456
(27,561,702)
(27,561,702)
161 $ 107,981,695 $ (78,707,180) $ 29,274,676

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Energous Corporation
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

2015
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to
Net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Stock based compensation
Amortization of debt discount
Warrant expense
Write-off of abandoned trademark
Gain on conversion of notes payable and accrued interest
Change in fair market value of derivative liabilities
Loss on retirement of fixed assets
Amortization of prepaid rent from stock issuance to landlord
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Net cash used in operating activities

$

Cash flows used in investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment
Costs of trademark
Net cash used in investing activities

For the Year Ended December 31,
2014
2013

(27,561,702) $

(5,521,081)

817,729
5,951,414
80,784

371,189
2,547,978
964,851
(2,084,368)
26,265,177
22,818
20,196

(157,769)
(28,682)
608,962
283,530
(20,005,734)

(289,383)
(15,689)
1,354,973
838,945
(15,606,423)

(127,197)
(6,959)
359,163
233,217
(3,430,978)

(1,032,795)
(1,032,795)

(1,619,694)
(1,619,694)

(194,329)
(4,725)
(199,054)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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(45,603,110) $

4,717
16,148
705,289
724,000
4,725
177,000
-

Energous Corporation
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

2015
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from the sale of common stock
Payment of deferred offering costs
Repurchase of restricted common stock
Proceeds from IPO, net of underwriter's discount and
offering expenses
Proceeds from the sale of stock to strategic investor, net
Sale of Warrant to IPO underwriter
Proceeds from shares issued under shelf registration,
net of underwriter's discount and offering expenses
Proceeds from the exercise of stock options
Proceeds from secondary offering, net of underwriter's discount and offering
expenses
Proceeds from the sale of senior secured convertible notes
Proceeds from contributions to employee stock purchase plan
Proceeds from the disgorgement of short-swing profit
Net cash provided by financing activities

For the Year Ended December 31,
2014
2013
-

-

200,681
(88,319)
(29,553)

-

24,872,170
900,000
1,000

-

19,048,456
65,647

-

-

-

20,993,759

289,787
12,611
19,416,501

46,766,929

5,500,009
5,582,818

(1,622,028)
31,494,592
29,872,564 $

29,540,812
1,953,780
31,494,592

$

1,952,786
994
1,953,780

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents - beginning
Cash and cash equivalents - ending

$

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash financing activities:
Decrease in deferred offering costs charged to the IPO

$

-

$

88,319

$

-

Common stock issued upon conversion of notes payable
and accrued interest payable

$

-

$

26,790,177

$

-

Increase in additional paid in capital upon extinguishment
of derivative liability for warrants

$

-

$

5,752,000

$

-

Common stock issued to landlord for tenant improvement
of $100,000 and prepaid rent of $400,000
Common stock issued for services

$
$

147,900

$
$

500,000
-

$
$

-

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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ENERGOUS CORPORATION
Notes to Financial Statements
Note 1 - Business Organization, Nature of Operations
Energous Corporation (the “Company”) was incorporated in Delaware on October 30, 2012. The Company is developing a technology
called WattUp® that consists of proprietary semiconductor chipsets, software, hardware designs and antennas that can enable RF-based
wire-free charging for electronic devices, providing power at a distance and ultimately enabling charging with mobility under full software
control. The Company’s anticipated business model is to supply silicon components with reference designs and license our WattUp
technology to device and chip manufacturers, wireless service providers and other commercial partners to make wire-free charging an
affordable, ubiquitous and convenient option for end users. The Company believes their proprietary technology can potentially be utilized
in a variety of devices, including wearables, Internet of Things (IoT) devices, smartphones, tablets, e-book readers, keyboards, mice, remote
controls, rechargeable lights, cylindrical batteries and any other device with similar charging requirements that would otherwise need a
battery or a connection to a power outlet.
The Company is developing solutions that charge electronic devices by surrounding them with a contained three dimensional (“3D”) radio
frequency (“RF”) energy pocket (“RF energy pocket”). The Company is engineering solutions that are expected to enable the wire-free
transmission of energy from multiple WattUp transmitters to multiple WattUp receiving devices within a range of up to fifteen (15) feet in
radius or in a circular charging envelope of up to thirty (30) feet. The Company is also developing a transmitter technology to seamlessly
mesh, (much like a network of WiFi routers) to form a wire-free charging network that will allow users to charge their devices as they walk
from room-to-room or throughout a large space. To date, the Company has developed multiple transmitter prototypes in various form
factors and power capabilities. The Company has also developed multiple receiver prototypes including smartphone battery cases, toys,
fitness trackers, Bluetooth headsets as well as stand-alone receivers.
Note 2 – Liquidity and Management Plans
During the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company has recorded revenue of $2,500,000. The Company incurred a net loss of
$27,561,702, $45,603,110 and $5,521,081 for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively. Net cash used in operating
activities was $20,005,734, $15,606,423 and $3,430,978 for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively. Since
inception, the Company has met its liquidity requirements principally through the private placement of convertible notes, the sale of its
common stock in a registered initial public offering, the sale of its common stock to a strategic investor, the issuance of its common stock to
the Company’s landlord to reduce its monthly base rent obligation and pay for certain tenant improvements, the sale of common stock in a
December 2014 secondary offering, the sale of common stock pursuant to a shelf registration and payments received under product
development projects entered into with a customer.
As of December 31, 2015, the Company had cash on hand of $29,872,564. In April 2014, the Company completed its IPO of 4,600,000
shares of common stock through which the Company raised net proceeds of approximately $24.8 million. In connection with the
completion of the IPO, the Company’s outstanding convertible notes and interest accrued thereon were converted into 1,833,336 and 96,792
shares, respectively, of common stock, thus extinguishing the debt associated with the notes. On April 4, 2014, the Company issued
210,527 shares of common stock to a strategic investor upon the receipt of net proceeds of $900,000 ($300,000 received on March 27,
2014, $700,000 received on April 4, 2014 less $100,000 to MDB Capital Group as a commission). In December 2014, the Company
completed a secondary offering of 3,285,714 shares of common stock through which the Company raised net proceeds of approximately
$21.0 million. On April 24, 2015, the Company filed a “shelf” registration statement on Form S-3, under which the Company may from
time to time, sell any combination of debt or equity securities up to an aggregate of $75,000,000. In November 2015, the Company
consummated an offering under the shelf registration of 3,000,005 shares of common stock through which the Company raised net
proceeds of $19,048,456. The Company expects that cash on hand as of December 31, 2015, together with anticipated revenues, will be
sufficient to fund the Company’s operations into the second quarter of 2017.
Research and development of new technologies is, by its nature, unpredictable. Although the Company will undertake development efforts
with commercially reasonable diligence, there can be no assurance that its available resources including the net proceeds from the
Company’s IPO, secondary offering, issuance lender shelf registration, and strategic investor financing will be sufficient to enable it to
develop and obtain regulatory approval of its technology to the extent needed to create future revenues sufficient to sustain its
operations. The Company may choose to pursue additional financing, depending upon the market conditions, which could include followon equity offerings, debt financing, co-development agreements or other alternatives. Should the Company choose to pursue additional
financing, there is no assurance that the Company would be able to do so on terms that it would find acceptable.
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Notes to Financial Statements
Note 3 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation
The accompanying financial statements are presented in U.S. dollars and have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America (“US GAAP”), and pursuant to the accounting and disclosure rules and regulations of
the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”).
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements as well as the reported expenses during the reporting periods.
The Company’s significant estimates and assumptions include the valuation of stock-based compensation instruments, recognition of
revenue, the useful lives of long-lived assets, and income tax expense. Some of these judgments can be subjective and complex, and,
consequently, actual results may differ from these estimates. Although the Company believes that its estimates and assumptions are
reasonable, they are based upon information available at the time the estimates and assumptions were made. Actual results could differ
from those estimates.
Reclassification
Certain amounts in prior periods have been reclassified to conform to the current period presentation. These reclassifications had no effect
on previously reported net loss.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all short-term, highly liquid investments with an original maturity at the date of purchase of three months or less to
be cash equivalents. The Company maintains cash balances that may be uninsured or in deposit accounts that exceed Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation limits. The Company maintains its cash deposits with major financial institutions.
Revenue Recognition
The Company recognizes revenue when all of the following criteria have been met: persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, services
have been rendered, collection of the revenue is reasonably assured, and the fees are fixed or determinable.
The Company records revenue associated with product development projects that it enters into with certain customers. In general, these
projects are associated with complex technology development, and as such the Company does not have certainty about its ability to achieve
the program milestones. Achievement of the milestone is dependent on our performance and the milestone typically needs to be accepted
by the customer. The payment associated with achieving the milestone is generally commensurate with the Company’s effort or the value
of the deliverable and is nonrefundable. The Company records the expenses related to these projects, generally included in research and
development expense, in the periods incurred.
The Company also receives nonrefundable payments, typically at the beginning of a customer relationship, for which there are no
milestones. The Company recognizes this revenue ratably over the initial engineering product development period. The Company records
the expenses related to these projects, generally included in research and development expense, in the periods incurred.
Research and Development
Research and development expenses are charged to operations as incurred. For internally developed patents, all patent application costs are
expensed as incurred as research and development expense. Patent application costs, generally legal costs, are expensed as research and
development costs until such time as the future economic benefits of such patents become more certain. The Company incurred research
and development costs of $18,825,041, $12,511,647 and $2,109,890 for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively.
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Notes to Financial Statements
Note 3 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, continued
Stock-Based Compensation
The Company accounts for equity instruments issued to employees in accordance with accounting guidance that requires awards to be
recorded at their fair value on the date of grant and are amortized over the vesting period of the award. The Company recognizes
compensation costs on a straight line basis over the requisite service period of the award, which is typically the vesting term of the equity
instrument issued.
On April 10, 2015, the Company’s board of directors approved the Energous Corporation Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”),
under which 600,000 shares of common stock were reserved for purchase by the Company’s employees, subject to approval by the
stockholders. On May 21, 2015, the Company’s stockholders approved the ESPP. Under the plan, employees may purchase a limited
number of shares of the Company’s common stock at a 15% discount from the lower of the closing market prices measured on the first and
last days of each half-year period. The Company recognizes compensation expense for the fair value of the purchase options, as measured
on the grant date.
Income Taxes
Tax benefits are recognized only for tax positions that are more likely than not to be sustained upon examination by tax authorities. The
amount recognized is measured as the largest amount of benefit that is greater than 50 percent likely to be realized upon settlement. A
liability for “unrecognized tax benefits” is recorded for any tax benefits claimed in the Company’s tax returns that do not meet these
recognition and measurement standards. As of December 31, 2015, no liability for unrecognized tax benefits was required to be reported.
The guidance also discusses the classification of related interest and penalties on income taxes. The Company’s policy is to record interest
and penalties on uncertain tax positions as a component of income tax expense. No interest or penalties were recorded during the years
ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013.
Net Loss Per Common Share
Basic net loss per share is computed by dividing net loss available to common stockholders by the weighted average number of shares of
common stock outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share is computed using the weighted average number of common
shares and, if dilutive, potential common shares outstanding during the period. Potential common shares consist of the incremental
common shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options and warrants (using the treasury stock method), the vesting of restricted stock
units (“RSUs”) and performance stock units (“PSUs”) and the enrollment of employees in the ESPP. The computation of diluted loss per
share excludes potentially dilutive securities of 4,994,425, 3,261,360 and 3,525,904 for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and
2013, respectively, because their inclusion would be antidilutive.
Potentially dilutive securities outlined in the table below have been excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share because the
effect of their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive.
For the Years Ended December 31,
2015
2014
2013
2,650,858
100,224
146,252
278,228
278,228
152,778
152,778
220,905
460,000
460,000
36,000
36,000
15,000
1,487,785
1,607,075
275,689
1,560,996
727,279
1,135,614
-

Convertible Notes – principal
Convertible Notes – accrued interest
Consulting Warrant to purchase common stock
Financing Warrant to purchase common stock
IPO Warrants to purchase common stock
IR Consulting Warrant
IR Incentive Warrant
Options to purchase common stock
RSUs
PSUs
Total potentially dilutive securities

4,994,425
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ENERGOUS CORPORATION
Notes to Financial Statements
Note 3 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, continued
Fair Value Measurements
The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, accounts payable and accrued expenses, approximate fair value due to the short-term
nature of these instruments. Fair value is defined as an exit price, representing the amount that would be received upon the sale of an asset
or payment to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants. Fair value is a market-based measurement that is
determined based on assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability. A three-tier fair value hierarchy is used
to prioritize the inputs in measuring fair value as follows:
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3

Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in
markets that are not active, or other inputs that are observable, either directly or indirectly.
Significant unobservable inputs that cannot be corroborated by market data.

The assets or liability’s fair value measurement within the fair value hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of any input that is significant
to the fair value measurement.
As of December 31, 2014, the Company no longer had financial instruments which were derivative liabilities.
The following table sets forth a summary of the changes in the fair value of the Company’s Level 3 financial liabilities that are measured at
fair value on a recurring basis:

Beginning balance
Change in fair value of conversion feature and warrants
Extinguishment of derivative liability upon conversion of Convertible Notes
Extinguishment of derivative liability upon modification of Financing Warrant
Extinguishment of derivative liability upon modification of Consulting Warrant
Ending balance

For the Year Ended
December 31, 2014
$
6,277,000
26,265,177
(26,790,177)
(1,733,000)
(4,019,000)
$
-

The conversion feature of the Convertible Notes immediately prior to conversion was measured at fair value using a Monte Carlo
simulation (which also represented the intrinsic value of the conversion feature) and was classified within Level 3 of the valuation
hierarchy. The warrant liabilities for the Financing Warrant and the Consulting Warrant, immediately prior to modification were measured
at fair value using a Monte Carlo simulation and were classified within Level 3 of the valuation hierarchy. The significant assumptions and
valuation methods that the Company used to determine fair value and the change in fair value of the Company’s derivative financial
instruments are discussed in Note 6 – Private Placement.
Level 3 liabilities are valued using unobservable inputs to the valuation methodology that are significant to the measurement of the fair
value of the derivative liabilities. For fair value measurements categorized within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, the Company’s
Interim Chief Financial Officer determined its valuation policies and procedures. The development and determination of the unobservable
inputs for Level 3 fair value measurements and fair value calculations are the responsibility of the Company’s Interim Chief Financial
Officer with support from the Company’s consultants and which are approved by the Interim Chief Financial Officer.
Level 3 financial liabilities consist of the derivative liabilities for which there is no current market for these securities such that the
determination of fair value requires significant judgment or estimation. Changes in fair value measurements categorized within Level 3 of
the fair value hierarchy are analyzed each period based on changes in estimates or assumptions and recorded as appropriate.
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Notes to Financial Statements
Note 3 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, continued
Fair Value Measurements, continued
The Company used a Monte Carlo model to value Level 3 financial liabilities at inception and on subsequent valuation dates, except that
the conversion feature of the convertible notes immediately prior to conversion was valued at intrinsic value. This simulation incorporates
transaction details such as the Company’s stock price, contractual terms, maturity, risk free rates, as well as, volatility. The Company also
used a binomial simulation and Black-Scholes economic model as supplemental valuation tools in order to validate the reasonableness of
the results of the Monte Carlo simulation when measuring the Financing Warrant and the Consulting Warrant.
A significant increase in the volatility or a significant increase in the Company’s stock price, in isolation, would result in a significantly
higher fair value measurement. Changes in the values of the derivative liabilities were recorded in Change in Fair Value of Derivative
Liabilities within Other Expense (Income) on the Company’s Statements of Operations.
Management determined that the results of its valuations are reasonable.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") No. 2014-09, "Revenue
from Contracts with Customers" (Topic 606), which supersedes the revenue recognition requirements in ASC Topic 605, "Revenue
Recognition," and most industry-specific guidance. This ASU is based on the principle that revenue is recognized to depict the transfer of
goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those
goods or services. The ASU also requires additional disclosure about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows
arising from customer contracts, including significant judgments and changes in judgments, and assets recognized from costs incurred to
obtain or fulfill a contract. The amendments in the ASU must be applied using one of two retrospective methods and are effective for
annual and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2016. On July 9, 2015, the FASB modified ASU 2014-09 to be effective for
annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim periods within that reporting period. As modified, the FASB
permits the adoption of the new revenue standard early, but not before the annual periods beginning after December 15, 2016. A public
organization would apply the new revenue standard to all interim reporting periods within the year of adoption. The Company will
evaluate the effects, if any, that adoption of this guidance will have on its financial statements.
In August 2014, FASB issued ASU No. 2014-15, Presentation of Financial Statements—Going Concern (Subtopic 205-40): Disclosure of
Uncertainties about an Entity’s Ability to Continue as a Going Concern. This standard is intended to define management’s responsibility to
evaluate whether there is substantial doubt about an organization’s ability to continue as a going concern and to provide related footnote
disclosures. Under U.S. GAAP, financial statements are prepared under the presumption that the reporting organization will continue to
operate as a going concern, except in limited circumstances. Financial reporting under this presumption is commonly referred to as the
going concern basis of accounting.
The going concern basis of accounting is critical to financial reporting because it establishes the fundamental basis for measuring and
classifying assets and liabilities. Currently, U.S. GAAP lacks guidance about management’s responsibility to evaluate whether there is
substantial doubt about the organization’s ability to continue as a going concern or to provide related footnote disclosures. This ASU
provides guidance to an organization’s management, with principles and definitions that are intended to reduce diversity in the timing and
content of disclosures that are commonly provided by organizations today in the financial statement footnotes. The amendments are
effective for annual periods ending after December 15, 2016, and interim periods within annual periods beginning after December 15, 2016.
Early application is permitted for annual or interim reporting periods for which the financial statements have not previously been issued.
The adoption of this standard is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial position and results of operations.
In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-03, "Simplifying the Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs." This standard amends existing
guidance to require the presentation of debt issuance costs in the balance sheet as a deduction from the carrying amount of the related debt
liability instead of a deferred charge. It is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2015, but early adoption is
permitted. The adoption of this standard is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial position and results of
operations.
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Note 3 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, continued
In August 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-15, “Presentation and Subsequent Measurement of Debt Issuance Costs Associated with
Line-of-Credit Arrangements” – Amendments to SEC Paragraphs Pursuant to Staff Announcement at June 18, 2015, which clarified the
SEC staff’s position on presenting and measuring debt issuance costs incurred in connection with line-of-credit arrangements. ASU 201515 should be adopted concurrent with the adoption of ASU 2015-03. The adoption of this standard is not expected to have a material impact
on the Company’s financial position and results of operations.
In November 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-17, “Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes” (“ASU 2015-17”). The standard
requires that deferred tax assets and liabilities be classified as noncurrent in a classified statement of financial position. ASU 2015-17 is
effective for fiscal years and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2016. Early adoption is permitted. ASU
2015-17 may be applied either prospectively, for all deferred tax assets and liabilities, or retrospectively. The Company is currently
evaluating the impact this standard will have on its financial statements.
In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-01, “Financial Instruments – Overall (Subtopic 825-10): Recognition and Measurement
of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities” (“ASU 2016-01”). The standard addresses certain aspects of recognition, measurement,
presentation, and disclosure of financial instruments. ASU 2016-01 is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years,
beginning after December 15, 2017. The Company is currently evaluating the impact the adoption of this new standard will have on its
financial statements.
In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, “Leases (Topic 842).” (“ASU 2016-02”) This standard requires that a lessee
recognize the assets and liabilities that arise from operating leases. A lessee should recognize in the statement of financial position a
liability to make lease payments (the lease liability) and a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying asset for the lease
term. For leases with a term of 12 months or less, a lessee is permitted to make an accounting policy election by class of underlying asset
not to recognize lease assets and lease liabilities. In transition, lessees and lessors are required to recognize and measure leases at the
beginning of the earliest period presented using a modified retrospective approach. ASU 2016-02 is effective for fiscal years, and interim
periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2018. The Company is currently evaluating the impact the adoption of this new
standard will have on its financial statements.
Management’s Evaluation of Subsequent Events
The Company evaluates events that have occurred after the balance sheet date of December 31, 2015, through the date which the financial
statements are issued. Based upon the review, the Company did not identify any subsequent events that would have required adjustment or
disclosure in the financial statements.
Note 4 – Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are as follows:

Computer software
Computer hardware
Furniture and fixtures
Leasehold improvements

$

Less – accumulated depreciation
Total property and equipment, net

$

As of December 31,
2015
2014
650,386 $
459,861
1,203,021
725,739
457,887
342,452
593,287
343,734
2,904,581
1,871,786
(1,174,216)
(356,487)
1,730,365 $
1,515,299

Total depreciation and amortization expense of the Company’s property and equipment was $817,729, $371,189 and $4,717 for the years
ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively.
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Note 5 – Accrued Expenses
Accrued expenses consist of the following:

Accrued compensation
Other accrued expenses
Total

As of December 31,
2015
2014
739,782 $
425,824
336,097
366,525
1,075,879 $
792,349

$
$

Note 6 – Private Placement
Senior Secured Convertible Notes
On May 16, 2013, the Company entered into a securities purchase agreement (the “Securities Purchase Agreement”) with accredited
investors (the “Investors”), pursuant to which the Company sold an aggregate of $5,500,009 principal amount of senior secured convertible
notes (the “Convertible Notes”). In connection with the sale of the Convertible Notes (the “Bridge Financing”), the Company entered into a
registration rights agreement (the “Registration Rights Agreement”) and a security agreement (the “Security Agreement”) with the
Investors. The closing of the Bridge Financing was completed on May 16, 2013. The Convertible Notes bore interest at 6% per annum and
would have matured on August 16, 2014.
In connection with the funding of the IPO, on April 2, 2014, the principal and interest due under the Convertible Notes of $5,500,009 and
$290,219, were converted into 1,833,336 and 96,792 shares, respectively, of common stock. The security agreement terminated on April 2,
2014, upon the conversion of the Convertible Notes.
Accounting for the Senior Secured Convertible Notes
Pursuant to the terms of the Convertible Notes, the conversion price was subject to adjustment in the event of an IPO, other financing and
upon certain other events. The embedded conversion feature was not clearly and closely related to the host instrument and was bifurcated
from the host Convertible Notes as a derivative, principally because the instrument’s variable exercise price terms would not qualify as
being indexed to the Company’s own common stock. Accordingly, through April 1, 2014, this conversion feature instrument was classified
as a derivative liability. Derivative liabilities are initially recorded at fair value and are then re-valued at each reporting date, with changes
in fair value recognized in earnings during the reporting period.
The Company calculated the fair value of the embedded conversion feature of the Convertible Notes at April 2, 2014 at the conversion
features’ fair value, with the observable assumptions as provided in the table below.

Stock price on valuation date
Conversion price
Fair value

$
$
$

As of
April 2, 2014
13.88
3.00
26,790,177

The amortization of debt discount related to the Convertible Notes was $0, $964,851 and $705,289, respectively, for the years ended
December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013. During the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, the Company recorded an increase of $0,
$21,217,177 and $197,000, respectively, in the fair value of the derivative liability for the conversion feature of the Convertible Notes,
which was recorded as a change in the fair value of derivative liabilities within the statement of operations. On April 2, 2014, upon the
consummation of the IPO, the Convertible Notes and Accrued Interest were converted to 1,833,336 and 96,792 shares, respectively, of the
Company’s common stock. This conversion was accounted for as an extinguishment. Accordingly, on April 2, 2014, the Company
recorded a gain of $2,084,368 upon the extinguishment of the Convertible Notes, accrued interest, and the related derivative liability.
Thereupon, the 1,930,128 shares of common stock were issued and were recorded at their aggregate fair value of $26,790,177.
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Note 6 – Private Placement, continued
Placement Agent Agreement
On January 23, 2013, the Company entered into an agreement (the “Placement Agent Agreement”) with MDB Capital Group, Inc.
(“MDB”), pursuant to which the Company appointed MDB to act as the Company’s placement agent in connection with the sale of the
Company’s securities (“Offering or Offerings”). Specifically, MDB was the placement agent in connection with the sale of its Convertible
Notes.
In connection with the sale of the Convertible Notes, the Company paid MDB a cash fee of $538,393 and sold to MDB for $1,000 in cash,
a warrant issued on May 16, 2013 (the “Financing Warrant”) to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock. The Financing Warrant
was fully vested upon issuance, has a term of five years and may not be exercised until six months after the consummation of a qualifying
firm commitment underwritten initial public offering. Pursuant to the terms of the Financing Warrant, the aggregate exercise price is fixed
at $550,000, with the per share exercise price being $3.60 based upon 120% of the conversion price of $3.00 of the Convertible Notes upon
the consummation of the IPO. As of December 31, 2015, the Financing Warrant was exercisable into 152,778 shares of the Company’s
common stock, assuming an exercise price of $3.60 per share (or 120% of the Convertible Notes conversion price of $3.00 per share).
As originally executed and through June 24, 2014, in the event of a non-liquid exit transaction, as defined in the Financing Warrant
agreement, the holder of the Financing Warrant could have put the Financing Warrant back to the Company for a cash settlement at a fair
value amount that would be determined by appraisal and agreed to by both parties (the “Financing Warrant Put”). On June 25, 2014, the
Financing Warrant was modified to remove the Financing Warrant put feature.
MDB shall have certain registration rights with respect to the common stock issued upon exercise of the Financing Warrant, including a
onetime demand registration right with respect to such common stock.
Consulting Agreement
On January 23, 2013, the Company entered into a consulting agreement with MDB (the “Consulting Agreement”), pursuant to which MDB
agreed to provide financial, strategic and intellectual property advisory services. The Consulting Agreement had an initial term of 180 days,
and was renewed automatically upon the expiration of its initial term, after which it will continue in effect until it is terminated by either
party with 30 days written notice to the other party. On July 11, 2014, the Company provided notice to MDB of its termination of the
Consulting Agreement.
As consideration for services provided under the Consulting Agreement prior to May 16, 2013, the Company sold to MDB for $1,500 in
cash, a warrant (the “Consulting Warrant”) for the purchase of an aggregate of 278,228 shares of the Company’s common stock. The
Consulting Warrant was fully vested upon issuance, has a term of five years, an exercise price of $0.04 per share and may not be exercised
until six months after the consummation of the IPO. The Consulting Warrant may be exercised on a cashless basis. As originally executed
and through June 24, 2014, in the event of a non-liquid exit transaction, as defined in the Consulting Warrant, the holder of the Consulting
Warrant could have put the Consulting Warrant back to the Company for a cash settlement at a fair value amount that would be determined
by appraisal and agreed to by both parties (the “Consulting Warrant Put”). On June 25, 2014, the Consulting Warrant was modified to
remove the Consulting Warrant put feature.
MDB shall have certain registration rights with respect to the common stock issued upon exercise of the Consulting Warrant, including a
onetime demand registration right with respect to such common stock.
F-14

ENERGOUS CORPORATION
Notes to Financial Statements
Note 6 – Private Placement, continued
Accounting for the Financing Warrant and the Consulting Warrant
The Company determined that due to their cash settlement features, as originally issued, both the Financing Warrant and the Consulting
Warrant qualified as derivative instruments. Accordingly, upon issuance, these instruments were classified as derivative liabilities.
Derivative liabilities are initially recorded at fair value and are then re-valued at each reporting date, with changes in fair value recognized
in earnings during the reporting period. Effective on June 25, 2014, upon the removal of the cash settlement put features within the
Financing Warrant and the Consulting Warrant, (as discussed above), each of the Consulting Warrant and the Financing Warrant no longer
qualified as derivative instruments. Accordingly, on June 25, 2014, after first recording a mark-to-market adjustment to fair value, the
aggregate fair value of $5,752,000 for both warrants was reclassified to additional paid in capital.
The Company calculated the fair value of the Financing Warrant and the Consulting Warrant using a Monte Carlo simulation, with the
observable assumptions as provided in the table below. The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement of the
reporting entity’s Financing Warrant and the Consulting Warrant are expected stock prices, levels of trading and liquidity of the
Company’s common stock. Significant increases in the expected stock prices and expected liquidity would result in a significantly higher
fair value measurement. Significant increases in either the probability or severity of default of the host instrument would result in a
significantly lower fair value measurement.
Provided below are the principal assumptions used in the measurement of the fair values of the Financing Warrant and the Consulting
Warrant as of June 24, 2014.

Stock price on valuation date
Exercise price
Term (years)
Expected volatility
Dividend yield
Weighted average risk-free interest rate
Number of warrants
Number of trials
Aggregate fair value

As of June 24, 2014
As of December 31, 2013
Financing
Consulting
Financing
Consulting
Warrant
Warrant
Warrant
Warrant
$
14.69 $
14.69 $
1.68 $
1.68
$
3.60 $
0.04 $
2.49 $
0.04
3.89
3.89
4.38
4.38
60%
60%
60%
60%
0%
0%
0%
0%
1.33%
1.33%
1.75%
1.75%
152,778
278,228
220,905
278,228
20,000
20,000
20,000
20,000
$
1,733,000 $
4,019,000 $
175,000 $
529,000

During the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company recorded an increase of $5,048,000 and a decrease of $20,000,
respectively, in the fair values of the derivative liability of the Financing Warrant and the Consulting Warrant, which was recorded as a
change in the fair value of derivative liabilities within the statement of operations.
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Investor Relations Agreements
Effective January 13, 2014, the Company entered into an agreement with a vendor (“IR Firm”) to provide investor relations services to the
Company. Pursuant to the agreement, in addition to monthly cash compensation of $8,000 per month, on March 27, 2014 the Company
issued to the IR firm a consulting warrant (“IR Consulting Warrant”) for the purchase of 36,000 shares of common stock. The IR
Consulting Warrant has a strike price of $7.80, representing 130% of the IPO price. The IR Consulting Warrant had an initial catch up
vesting equivalent to 3,000 shares per month of service, partial months to be prorated on a thirty (30) day basis, from the effective date of
this agreement until March 27, 2014. Thereafter, the IR Consulting Warrant vested at a rate of 3,000 shares per month of service. On
February 26, 2015, the Company issued to the IR Firm incentive warrants (“IR Incentive Warrants”) to purchase 15,000 shares of common
stock with a strike price of $7.80 based upon certain qualified investors and/or institutional or brokerage firms having purchased at least
$250,000 in value of the Company’s common shares at the IPO price or greater in the open market on or after the 46th day following March
27, 2014. All IR Incentive Warrants granted during a six month period will collectively vest at each six month anniversary. Both the IR
Consulting Warrant and IR Incentive Warrants will have an expiration date four (4) years from the grant date. The shares underlying both
the IR Consulting Warrant and the IR Incentive Warrants may be exercised on a cashless basis if at the time of exercise, such warrant
shares have not been registered.
As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, 36,000 and 34,800 shares under the IR Consulting Warrant were vested. The Company incurred stockbased compensation expense of $7,522 and $263,972 for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively in connection with the
IR Consulting Warrant, which was included in general and administrative expense.
As of December 31, 2014 a total of 15,000 IR Incentive Warrants were deemed to have vested. Accordingly, as of December 31, 2014, the
Company recorded the accrued value of the IR Incentive Warrant of approximately $92,000 in general and administrative expenses, since
the Company does not record stock-based compensation until the associated warrant is approved by the Board of Directors and issued. On
February 26, 2015, the Board of Directors approved the issuance of a warrant to purchase 15,000 shares of the Company’s common stock
and the Company recorded stock-based compensation of $78,309.
On February 4, 2015, the Company entered into a six-month consulting agreement with a consultant to provide the Company with investor
relations services. Compensation under the agreement included the Company’s issuance on February 26, 2015, of 15,000 shares of common
stock valued at $147,900 and monthly cash payments of $5,000. The total value of the common stock compensation was recorded as a
prepaid expense and was amortized over the six-month contract period. The Company incurred amortization expense of $147,900 during
the year ended December 31, 2015, which was included in general and administrative expense.
Operating Leases
On September 10, 2014, the Company entered into a Lease Agreement (the “Lease”) with Balzer Family Investments, L.P. (the
“Landlord”) related to space located at Northpointe Business Center, 3590 North First Street, San Jose, California. The initial term of the
lease is 60 months, with initial monthly base rent of $36,720 and the lease is subject to certain annual escalations as defined in the
agreement. On October 1, 2014, the Company relocated its headquarters to this new location. The Company issued to the Landlord 41,563
shares of the Company’s common stock valued at $500,000, of which $400,000 will be applied to reduce the Company’s monthly base rent
obligation by $6,732 per month and of which $100,000 was for certain tenant improvements. The Company recorded $400,000 as prepaid
rent on its balance sheet, which is being amortized over the term of the lease and recorded $100,000 as leasehold improvements.
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Operating Leases, continued
On February 26, 2015, the Company entered into a sub-lease agreement for additional space in the San Jose area. The agreement has a term
which expires on June 30, 2019 and an initial monthly rent of $6,109 per month. On August 25, 2015 the Company entered into an
additional amended sub-lease agreement for additional space in San Jose, CA. The agreement has a term which expires on June 30, 2019
and an initial monthly rent of $4,314 per month. These leases are subject to certain annual escalations as defined in the agreements.
On July 9, 2015, the Company entered into a sub-lease agreement for additional space in Costa Mesa, CA. The agreement has a term which
expires on September 30, 2017 and a monthly rent of $6,376 per month.
The future minimum lease payments for leased locations are as follows:
For the Years Ended December 31,
2016
2017
2018
2019
Total

$

Amount
529,309
572,722
530,531
372,652
2,005,214

Development and Licensing Agreement
Effective January 28, 2015, the Company signed a development and licensing agreement with a consumer electronics company to embed
WattUp wire-free charging receiver technology in various products including, but not limited to certain mobile consumer electronics and
related accessories. During the development phase and through customer shipment of their first product, Energous will afford this customer
an exclusive “time to market advantage” in the licensed product categories.
This development and licensing agreement contains both invention and development milestones that the Company will need to achieve
during the next two years. Pursuant to the Agreement, on March 23, 2015, the Company received an initial non-refundable payment of
$500,000, which was fully recognized as revenue during the year ended December 31, 2015. The agreement provides for additional
amounts to be received by the Company based upon its achievement of certain milestones. During the year ended December 31, 2015, the
Company recognized revenue of $2,000,000 upon the achievement of milestones under the agreement.
Effective April 3, 2015, the Company entered into an amendment of the development and license agreement with this consumer electronics
company to include joint development of wire-free transmitter technology and technology license back to the Company. On June 5, 2015,
the Company entered into a second amendment of the development and license agreement with this consumer electronics company to
conform the agreement for technical changes in the product delivery milestones. Effective October 1, 2015, the Company entered into a
third amendment of the development and license agreement with this consumer electronics company to make certain changes to, among
other things, payment terms and the products covered by the agreement.
Hosted Design Solution Agreement
On June 25, 2015, the Company entered into a three-year agreement to license electronic design automation software in a hosted
environment. Pursuant to the agreement, under which services began July 13, 2015, the Company is required to remit quarterly payments in
the amount of $100,568 with the last payment due March 30, 2018. On December 18, 2015, the agreement was amended to redefine the
hardware and software configuration and the quarterly payments increased to $198,105.
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Amended Employee Agreement – Stephen Rizzone
On April 3, 2015, the Company entered into an Amended and Restated Executive Employment Agreement with Stephen R. Rizzone, the
Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer (the “Employment Agreement”).
The Employment Agreement has an effective date of January 1, 2015 and an initial term of four years (the “Initial Employment Period”).
The Employment Agreement provides for an annual base salary of $365,000, and Mr. Rizzone is eligible to receive quarterly cash bonuses
with a total target amount equal to 100% of his base salary based upon achievement of performance-based objectives established by the
Company’s board of directors.
Pursuant to Mr. Rizzone’s prior employment agreement, on December 12, 2013 Mr. Rizzone was granted a ten year option to purchase
275,689 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $1.68 vesting over four years in 48 monthly installments beginning October 1, 2013
(the “First Option”). Mr. Rizzone was also granted a second option award to purchase 496,546 shares of common stock at an exercise price
of $6.00 (the “Second Option”). The Second Option vests over the same vesting schedule as the First Option.
Effective with the approval on May 21, 2015 by the Company’s stockholders of its new performance-based equity plan, the Employment
Agreement provided and Mr. Rizzone received, a grant of 639,075 Performance Share Units (the “PSUs”). The PSUs, which represent the
right to receive shares of common stock, shall be earned based on the Company’s achievement of market capitalization growth between the
effective date of the Employment Agreement and the end of the Initial Employment Period. If the Company’s market capitalization is $100
million or less, no PSUs will be earned. If the Company reaches a market capitalization of $1.1 billion or more, 100% of the PSUs will be
earned. For market capitalization between $100 million and $1.1 billion, the percentage of PSUs earned will be determined on a quarterly
basis based on straight line interpolation. PSUs earned as of the end of a calendar quarter will be paid 50% immediately and 50% will be
deferred until the end of the Initial Employment Period subject to Mr. Rizzone’s continued employment with the Company (See Note 9).
Mr. Rizzone is also eligible to receive all customary and usual benefits generally available to senior executives of the Company.
The Employment Agreement provides that if Mr. Rizzone’s employment is terminated due to his death or disability, if Mr. Rizzone’s
employment is terminated by the Company without cause or if he resigns for good reason, twenty-five percent (25%) of the shares subject
to the First Option and the Second Option shall immediately vest and become exercisable, he will have a period of one year posttermination to exercise the First Option and the Second Option, and if a Liquidation Event (as defined in the Employment Agreement) shall
occur prior to the termination of the First Option and the Second Option, one hundred percent (100%) of the shares subject to the First
Option and Second Option shall immediately vest and become exercisable effective immediately prior to the consummation of the
Liquidation Event. In addition, any outstanding deferred PSUs shall be immediately vested and paid, but any remaining unearned portion of
the PSUs shall immediately be canceled and forfeited.
Offer Letter – Brian Sereda
Effective July 13, 2015, the Company appointed Brian Sereda to serve as Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, replacing Interim
Chief Financial Officer Howard Yeaton.
In connection with Mr. Sereda’s appointment as Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, the Company and Mr. Sereda executed an
offer letter effective July 13, 2015 (the “Sereda Offer Letter”). Under the Sereda Offer Letter, Mr. Sereda will receive an annual base
salary of $250,000 per year, and is eligible to earn an annual performance bonus of up to 75% of his then current base salary in accordance
with performance objectives established by the Company’s independent compensation committee or the Board of Directors. In addition,
under the Sereda Offer Letter and as an inducement to join the Company, Mr. Sereda received an inducement restricted stock unit award
covering a total of 120,000 shares of common stock. This restricted stock unit award vests over a period of four years in four equal annual
installments on July 13 of each of 2016, 2017, 2018 and 2019, subject to Mr. Sereda’s continued employment with the Company through
each vesting date.
In the event Mr. Sereda is terminated without cause, he is entitled to (1) six months of his then-current base salary and (2) payment of
COBRA premiums for up to six months. In the event of a liquidation event and termination of employment, except for cause, 100% of the
inducement award shall immediately vest.
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Consulting Arrangement
On October 5, 2015, George B. Holmes resigned as Chief Commercial Officer of the Company. Mr. Holmes will provide consulting
services to the Company pursuant to a six month consulting agreement pursuant to which he will receive consulting fees totaling $80,000.
In connection with the consulting arrangement, Mr. Holmes was permitted to extend the exercise period for an option to purchase 80,201
shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $2.49 per share and an aggregate of 44,836 RSUs would be allowed to vest
pursuant to their terms.
Note 8 – Stockholders’ Equity
Authorized Capital
The holders of the Company’s common stock are entitled to one vote per share. Holders of common stock are entitled to receive ratably
such dividends, if any, as may be declared by the board of directors out of legally available funds. Upon the liquidation, dissolution or
winding up of the Company, holders of common stock are entitled to share ratably in all assets of the Company that are legally available for
distribution.
Sale of Common Stock
The Company entered into a stock purchase agreement dated March 7, 2014, under which a strategic investor (‘Strategic Investor”) agreed
to purchase 210,527 shares of our common stock $0.0001 par value for gross proceeds of $1,000,000. On April 4, 2014, the Company
issued 210,527 shares of common stock upon the receipt of the proceeds of $1,000,000 ($300,000 received on March 27, 2014, $700,000
received on April 4, 2014). In connection with this sale, the Company paid a commission of $100,000 to MDB. The shares issued are
subject to a one year lock-up and a one year voting control agreement.
Amendment to Certificate of Incorporation
On March 26, 2014, the Company’s board of directors and stockholders approved the Second Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation which increased the authorized shares to 60,000,000 of which 10,000,000 shares are designated as preferred stock. In
addition, a special meeting of stockholders can only be called by the Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, President or the majority of the
board of directors and shall be limited to matters relating to the purpose or purposes stated in the notice of meeting. Any actions required,
as a result of a special stockholder meeting, can only be taken upon the vote of the stockholders and not by written consent. The
stockholders empowered the board of directors at any time prior to the effectiveness of the filing of this Second Amendment and Restated
Certificate to abandon the proposed amendment.
Initial Public Offering
The registration statement for the Company’s IPO was declared effective on March 27, 2014. On April 2, 2014, the Company
consummated the Public Offering of 4,600,000 shares of common stock (including 600,000 shares issued pursuant to the over-allotment
option granted to the underwriter) at $6.00 per share and received from the underwriter net proceeds of $25,214,596 (net of underwriter’s
discount of $2,208,000 and underwriter offering expenses of $177,404). The Company incurred additional offering expenses of $430,745,
yielding net proceeds from the IPO of $24,783,851.
IPO Underwriter Warrant
Simultaneous with the funding of the IPO, the Company issued to the underwriter a warrant to purchase 460,000 shares of common stock
(“IPO Underwriter Warrant”) at an exercise price of $7.50 per share with an expiration date of April 2, 2024. The IPO underwriter warrant
was recorded net of the proceeds from the IPO.
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Secondary Offering
The registration statement for the Company’s Secondary Offering was declared effective on December 15, 2014. On December 15, 2014,
the Company consummated the Public Offering of 3,285,714 shares of common stock at $7.00 per share and received from the
underwriters’ net proceeds of $21,239,998 (net of underwriters’ discount of $1,610,000 and underwriters’ offering expenses of $150,000).
The Company incurred additional offering expenses of $246,239, yielding net proceeds from the IPO of $20,993,759.
Disgorgement of Short Swing Profits
On April 11, 2015, $12,611 of proceeds was received from an officer of the Company who had purchased shares in the December 2014
secondary offering representing the disgorgement of a short swing profit on the officer’s April 2015 sale of the Company’s stock.
Consummation of Offering under Shelf Registration
On April 24, 2015, the Company filed a “shelf” registration statement on Form S-3, which became effective on April 30, 2015. The “shelf”
registration statement allows the Company from time to time to sell any combination of debt or equity securities described in the
registration statement up to aggregate proceeds of $75,000,000.
Pursuant to the shelf registration, on November 17, 2015, the Company consummated an offering of 3,000,005 shares of common stock at
$6.90 per share and received from the underwriters’ net proceeds of $19,333,032 (net of underwriters’ discount of $1,242,002 and
underwriters’ offering expenses of $125,000). The Company incurred additional offering expenses of $284,576, yielding net proceeds from
the offering under shelf registration of $19,048,456.
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Equity Incentive Plans
2013 Equity Incentive Plan
In December 2013 the Company’s board and stockholders approved the “2013 Equity Incentive Plan”, providing for the issuance of equity
based instruments covering up to an initial total of 1,042,167 shares of common stock. Effective on March 27, 2014, the aggregate total
shares which may be issued under the 2013 Equity Incentive Plan were increased to 2,335,967, as described below.
Effective on March 10, 2014, the Company’s board of directors and stockholders approved the First Amendment to the 2013 Equity
Incentive Plan which provided for an increase in the aggregate number of shares of common stock that may be issued pursuant to the Plan
to equal 18% of the total number of shares of common stock outstanding immediately following the completion of the IPO (assuming for
this purpose the issuance of all shares issuable under the Company’s equity plans, the conversion into common stock of all outstanding
securities that are convertible by their terms into common stock and the exercise of all options and warrants exercisable for shares of
common stock and including shares and warrants issued to the underwriters for such IPO upon exercise of its over-allotment options).
As of December 31, 2015, 185,827 shares of common stock remain eligible to be issued through equity-based instruments under the 2013
Equity Incentive Plan.
2014 Non-Employee Equity Compensation Plan
On March 6, 2014, the Company’s board of directors and stockholders approved the 2014 Non-Employee Equity Compensation Plan for
the issuance of equity-based instruments covering up to 250,000 shares of common stock to directors and other non-employees.
As of December 31, 2015, 136,808 shares of common stock remain eligible to be issued through equity-based instruments under the 2014
Non-Employee Equity Compensation Plan.
2015 Performance Share Unit Plan
On April 10, 2015, the Company’s board of directors approved the Energous Corporation 2015 Performance Share Unit Plan (the
“Performance Share Plan”), under which 1,310,104 shares of common stock became available for issuance as PSUs to a select group of
employees and directors, subject to approval by the stockholders. On May 21, 2015 the Company’s stockholders approved the Performance
Share Plan.
As of December 31, 2015, 31,951 shares of common stock remain eligible to be issued through equity based instruments under the
Performance Share Unit Plan.
Employee Stock Purchase Plan
On April 10, 2015, the Company’s board of directors approved the ESPP, under which 600,000 shares of common stock have been
reserved for purchase by the Company’s employees, subject to approval by the stockholders. On May 21, 2015, the Company’s
stockholders approved the ESPP. Employees may designate an amount not less than 1% but not more than 10% of their annual
compensation, but for not more than 7,500 shares during an offering period. An offering period shall be six months in duration
commencing on or about January 1 and July 1 of each year. The exercise price of the option will be the lesser of 85% of the fair market of
the common stock on the first business day of the offering period and 85% of the fair market value of the common stock on the applicable
exercise date.
As of December 31, 2015, 553,977 shares of common stock remain eligible to be issued through equity based instruments under the ESPP.
As of December 31, 2015, eligible employees have contributed $289,787 through payroll withholdings to the ESPP. On December 31,
2015, a total of 46,023 shares were then delivered to the participating employees.
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Stock Options
On January 7, 2014, the Company’s board of directors granted to various employees and consultants from the 2013 Equity Incentive Plan
stock options to purchase an aggregate of 537,845 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $2.49 per share and
having a term of ten years. Included in these grants were 57,644 options to Michael Leabman, Chief Technical Officer, pursuant to his
employment contract, 80,201 options to George Holmes, Vice President of Sales and Marketing, and 319,799 options to other employees
and consultants. The option awards granted to Mr. Leabman vested 3/48ths on the date of grant, and will vest 1/48th monthly over the
following 45 months. The option award granted to Mr. Holmes vested 25% on October 1, 2014 and then continues to vest 1/48th of the
initial award monthly for the subsequent 36 months. Effective October 5, 2015, Mr. Holmes resigned from the Company and subsequently
signed an agreement to continue as a consultant to the Company. Per the separation agreement of Mr. Holmes, the options will continue to
vest and shall stay in full force and effect for at least six months. Option awards granted to all other employees and consultants cliff vest
25% of the award on the later of the first anniversary of the date they started working for the Company or October 1, 2014 and then will
vest 1/48th of the initial award monthly for the following 36 months. The options had an aggregate grant date fair value of $762,699
utilizing the Black-Scholes option pricing model.
On February 27, 2014, the Company granted non-qualified stock options for the purchase of 25,979 shares of the Company’s common
stock each to two new independent directors of the Company as part of their compensation for serving on the Company’s board of
directors. The options have an exercise price of $3.63 per share and have a term of ten years. The Options vest 25% on March 31, 2014,
June 30, 2014, September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2014. The options had an aggregate grant date fair value of $100,000 utilizing the
Black-Scholes option pricing model.
On March 15, 2014 and March 20, 2014, the Company granted non-qualified stock options from the 2014 Non-Employee Equity
Compensation Plan for the purchase of an aggregate of 34,781 shares of the Company’s common stock to two new independent directors of
the Company as part of their compensation for serving on the Company’s board of directors. The options have a weighted average exercise
price of $5.45 per share and have a term of ten years. The Options vest 25% on March 31, 2014, June 30, 2014, September 30, 2014 and
December 31, 2014. The options had an aggregate grant date fair value of $100,000 utilizing the Black-Scholes option pricing model.
On March 15, 2014, the Company’s board of directors granted to a single employee an option under the 2013 Equity Incentive Plan to
purchase 80,201 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $4.99. The option award granted to the employee has a ten
year term and cliff vests 25% of the award on the anniversary of the employee’s date of hire and then will vest 1/48th of the initial award
monthly during the following 36 months. The option had a grant date fair value of $229,365 utilizing the Black-Scholes option pricing
model.
On March 26, 2014, the Company’s board of directors granted to Mr. Rizzone, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, an option under the
2013 Equity Incentive Plan to purchase 496,546 shares of the Company’s common stock, at a price of $6.00 per share, with a term of ten
years and which vests 6/48 of the award on the grant date and 1/48 of the award on the last day of each of the subsequent 42 months. The
option had a grant date fair value of $1,667,784 utilizing the Black-Scholes option pricing model.
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On March 26, 2014, the Company’s board of directors granted to Michael Leabman, Chief Technical Officer, pursuant to his employment
contract a stock option under the 2013 Equity Incentive Plan to purchase 251,474 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise
price of $6.00. The option award granted to Mr. Leabman has a ten year term and vests 6/48th of the award on the grant date and 1/48th of
the award on the last day of each of the subsequent 42 months. The option had a grant date fair value of $844,643 utilizing the BlackScholes option pricing model.
On March 26, 2014, the Company’s board of directors granted to Mr. Holmes a stock option under the 2013 Equity Incentive Plan to
purchase 89,672 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $6.00. The option award granted to the consultant has a ten
year term and vested 25% of the award on September 30, 2014 and continues to vest 1/48th of the award on the last day of each of the
subsequent 36 months. The option had a grant date fair value of $303,869 utilizing the Black-Scholes option pricing model. On October 5,
2015, Mr. Holmes resigned his position with the Company and entered into a consulting agreement in which he agreed to forfeit and
surrender this option grant.
The Company estimated the fair value of stock options awarded during the year ended December 31, 2014 using the Black-Scholes option
pricing model. The fair values of stock options granted were estimated using the following assumptions:
Option Grants Awarded
During the Year Ended
December 31, 2014
$2.49 to $6.00
0%
60%
1.30% to 2.03%
3.75 to 6.25 years

Stock price
Dividend yield
Expected volatility
Risk-free interest rate
Expected life
For the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company did not issue any grants.
Stock Option Award Activity

The following is a summary of the Company’s stock option activity during the year ended December 31, 2015:

Outstanding at January 1, 2015
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited
Outstanding at December 31, 2015
Exercisable at December 31, 2015

Weighted
Average
Number of
Exercise
Options
Price
1,607,075 $
4.41
(21,786)
3.01
(97,504)
5.72
1,487,785 $
4.43
860,970

$

4.34

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Life In
Years
9.0
8.0
8.0

Intrinsic
Value
$ 10,467,374
$
5,310,340
$

3,076,767

As of December 31, 2015, the unamortized value of options was $1,676,416. As of December 31, 2015, the unamortized portion will be
expensed over a weighted average period of 1.8 years.
The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised was $92,728 and $0 for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
No options were granted during the year ended December 31, 2015. The weighted average grant date fair value per share of options granted
during the year ended December 31, 2014 was $2.60
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Option Valuation
The Company has computed the fair value of options granted using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Option forfeitures are
estimated at the time of valuation and reduce expense ratably over the vesting period. This estimate will be adjusted periodically based on
the extent to which actual option forfeitures differ, or are expected to differ, from the previous estimate, when it is material. The expected
term used for options issued to non-employees is the contractual life and the expected term used for options issued to employees is the
estimated period of time that options granted are expected to be outstanding. The Company utilizes the “simplified” method to develop an
estimate of the expected term of “plain vanilla” employee option grants. Since the Company’s stock has not been publicly traded for a
sufficiently long period of time, the Company is utilizing an expected volatility figure based on a review of the historical volatilities, over a
period of time, equivalent to the expected life of the instrument being valued, of similarly positioned public companies within its industry.
The risk-free interest rate was determined from the implied yields from U.S. Treasury zero-coupon bonds with a remaining term consistent
with the expected term of the instrument being valued.
Restricted Stock Units (“RSUs”)
On June 3, 2014, the compensation committee of the board of directors of the Company granted to a member of the Company’s advisory
board, an RSU award under which the holder has the right to receive 4,035 shares of common stock. The award was granted under the 2014
Non-Employee Equity Compensation Plan. The RSU had a grant date fair value of $49,590 based upon the fair value of the Company’s
common stock on the date of grant. This RSU had 1,513 shares vested as of December 31, 2014 and vests 504 shares on each of the next
five succeeding three month anniversaries of the grant date.
On July 14, 2014, the compensation committee of the board of directors granted to George Holmes an RSU under which the holder has the
right to receive 44,836 shares of the Company’s common stock. The award was granted under the 2013 Equity Incentive Plan. The RSU
had a grant date fair value of $593,180 based upon the fair value of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant. The award granted
to Mr. Holmes vests 25% on March 28, 2015 and then 25% annually until fully vested. On October 5, 2015, Mr. Holmes resigned from his
position with the Company and entered into a consulting agreement. Pursuant to the employment release agreement, the RSUs shall stay in
full force and effect for at least 6 months.
On July 14, 2014, the compensation committee of the board of directors granted to various employees and consultants, RSUs under which
the holders have the right to receive 228,500 shares of the Company’s common stock. These awards were granted under the 2013 Equity
Incentive Plan and the RSU’s had an aggregate grant date fair value of $3,023,055 based upon the fair value of the Company’s common
stock on the date of grant. The awards granted vest 25% on March 28, 2015 and then 25% annually until fully vested on March 28, 2018.
Pursuant to the terms of the awards, the shares not vested terminate upon separation from the Company.
On August 14, 2014, the compensation committee of the board of directors granted to various employees and consultants, RSUs under
which the holders have the right to receive 86,823 shares of the Company’s common stock. These awards were granted under the 2013
Equity Incentive Plan and the RSU’s had an aggregate grant date fair value of $981,100 based upon the fair value of the Company’s
common stock on the date of grant. The awards granted vest over four years beginning on the first anniversary of the employee’s date of
hire. Pursuant to the terms of the awards, the shares not vested terminate upon separation from the Company.
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In addition, on August 14, 2014, the compensation committee of the board of directors granted two inducement RSU awards to Cesar
Johnston, the Company’s Senior Vice President of Engineering. Under the first award, Mr. Johnston has the right to receive 100,000 shares
of the Company’s common stock and this award vests over four years beginning on the first anniversary of his employment start date of
July 14, 2014. In addition, Mr. Johnston was granted 20,000 performance based RSU awards. On February 26, 2015, the compensation
committee of the board of director determined that Mr. Johnston had successfully met all conditions provided for in the performance based
RSU award. The RSU’s had an aggregate grant date fair value of $1,356,000 based upon the fair value of the Company’s common stock on
the date of grant. The awards granted vest over four years beginning on the first anniversary of the employee’s date of hire. Pursuant to the
terms of the awards, the shares not vested terminate upon separation from the Company.
On November 13, 2014, the compensation committee of the board of directors granted inducement RSU awards to various employees and
consultants, under which the holders have the right to receive 261,686 shares of the Company’s common stock. These inducement awards
were not granted under a plan. These RSUs had an aggregate grant date fair value of $2,266,201 based upon the fair value of the
Company’s common stock on the date of grant. Pursuant to the terms of the awards, the shares are not vested upon separation from the
Company.
In addition, on November 13, 2014, the compensation committee of the board of directors granted to various employees and consultants,
RSUs under which the holders have the right to receive 5,100 shares of the Company’s common stock. These awards were granted under
the 2013 Equity Incentive Plan as an incentive reward for being a named inventor on one or more of the Company’s patent applications,
and the RSUs had an aggregate fair value of $44,166 based upon the fair value of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant.
Pursuant to the terms of the awards, the shares vested immediately upon grant and common stock delivery is one year from the related
patent application date.
On December 24, 2014, the compensation committee of the board of directors granted inducement RSU awards to various employees and
consultants, under which the holders have the right to receive 77,856 shares of the Company’s common stock. These inducement awards
were not granted under a plan. These RSUs had an aggregate grant date fair value of $620,512 based upon the fair value of the Company’s
common stock on the date of grant. The awards granted vest over four years beginning on the first anniversary of the employee’s date of
hire. Pursuant to the terms of the awards, the shares not vested terminate upon separation from the Company.
On December 24, 2014, the compensation committee of the board of directors granted an RSU award to a consultant, under which the
holder has the right to receive 5,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. This award was granted under the 2013 Equity Incentive Plan
and had a grant date fair value of $39,850 based upon the fair value of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant. The awards
granted vest over four years beginning on the first anniversary of the employee’s date of hire. Pursuant to the terms of the awards, the
shares not vested terminate upon separation from the Company.
On January 2, 2015, the compensation committee of the board of directors granted to various directors, RSUs under which the holders have
the right to receive an aggregate of 17,576 shares of the Company’s common stock. The awards granted vest fully on the first anniversary
of the grant date. On June 23, 2015, one of the Company’s directors resigned and upon approval by the compensation committee of the
board of directors, his RSU award of 4,394 shares became fully vested.
On January 22, 2015, the compensation committee of the board of directors granted to various employees and consultants, RSUs under
which the holders have the right to receive an aggregate of 54,500 shares of the Company’s common stock. The awards granted were
vested on the date of grant.
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On February 26, 2015, the compensation committee of the board of directors granted to two employees RSUs under which the holders have
the right to receive an aggregate of 6,800 shares of the Company’s common stock. The awards granted were vested on the date of grant.
On February 26, 2015, the compensation committee of the board of directors granted to Mr. Rizzone, the Company’s Chief Executive
Officer, RSUs under which Mr. Rizzone has the right to receive 246,226 shares of the Company’s common stock. The awards granted vest
over four years beginning on the first anniversary of the date of grant.
On February 26, 2015, the compensation committee of the board of directors granted to a member of the advisory board RSUs under which
the holder has the right to receive 5,071 shares. The award vested 12.5% on March 31, 2015 and 12.5% on June 30, 2015. The grant was
then cancelled when the advisory board member became a regular board member and received a new grant on July 1, 2015.
On May 21, 2015, the compensation committee of the board of directors granted to various employees and consultants inducement RSU
awards under which the holders have the right to receive an aggregate of 205,081 shares of the Company’s common stock. The awards
granted vest over four years beginning on the first anniversary of the date of hire.
On May 21, 2015, the compensation committee of the board of directors granted to Cesar Johnston, the Company’s Senior Vice President
of Engineering, RSUs under which Mr. Johnston has the right to receive 1,500 shares of the Company’s common stock. This award was
granted under the 2013 Equity Incentive Plan. The award granted vested fully on May 31, 2015.
On May 21, 2015, the compensation committee of the board of directors granted to two consultants RSUs under which the holders have the
right to receive an aggregate of 7,042 shares of the Company’s common stock. These awards were granted under the 2014 Non-Employee
Equity Compensation Plan. The awards granted were fully vested on the date of grant.
On May 21, 2015, in connection with patent applications, the compensation committee of the board of directors granted to various
employees RSUs under which the holders have the right to receive an aggregate of 6,300 shares of the Company’s common stock. These
awards were granted under the 2013 Equity Incentive Plan. Of the awards granted, 2,100 RSUs became fully vested on December 29,
2015, 3,500 became fully vested on December 30, 2015 and 700 became fully vested on December 31, 2015.
On May 21, 2015, the compensation committee of the board of directors granted to John Gaulding, director and chairman of the board,
RSUs under the 2014 Non-Employee Equity Compensation Plan for which Mr. Gaulding has the right to receive 25,000 shares of the
Company’s common stock. These shares were issued to Mr. Gaulding in connection with his role as an independent director and chairman
of the Board of Directors. The award granted vests fully on January 1, 2016.
On May 21, 2015, the compensation committee of the board of directors accelerated the vesting of 13,074 previously issued RSUs, held by
certain employees and consultants, to vest on April 30, 2015.
On July 1, 2015, the Company appointed Martin Cooper to the Board of Directors with a term expiring at the Company’s 2016 annual
stockholders meeting. In connection with Mr. Cooper’s appointment to the Board, Mr. Cooper was issued RSUs under the Company’s
2014 Non-Employee Equity Compensation Plan covering a total of 5,061 shares of Company common stock that will vest in full on
January 4, 2016.
On July 13, 2015, the Company appointed Brian Sereda Vice President and Chief Financial Officer. As an inducement to join the
Company, Mr. Sereda received an inducement restricted stock unit award covering a total of 120,000 shares of common stock. The
restricted stock unit award vests in four equal annual installments on July 13 of each of 2016, 2017, 2018 and 2019, subject to Mr. Sereda’s
continued employment with the Company through each vesting date.
On August 20, 2015, the compensation committee of the board of directors granted to three consultants RSUs under which the holders have
the right to receive an aggregate of 8,854 shares of the Company’s common stock (of which 1,416 were granted to Martin Cooper). These
awards were granted under the 2014 Non-Employee Equity Compensation Plan. The awards granted were fully vested on the date of grant.
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Restricted Stock Units (“RSUs”), continued
During August 2015, the compensation committee of the board of directors granted to various employees inducement RSU awards under
which the holders have the right to receive an aggregate of 74,992 shares of the Company’s common stock. The awards granted vest over
four years beginning on the first anniversary of the date of hire.
On October 22, 2015, the compensation committee of the board of directors granted to various employees 35,000 RSU awards under the
2013 Equity Incentive Plan for achievement of a customer milestone. The awards granted vested 50% on November 16, 2015 with the
remaining 50% vesting on the one year anniversary of the grant date.
On December 17, 2015, the compensation committee of the board of directors granted Cesar Johnston and Michael Leabman each 12,500
RSU awards under the 2013 Equity Incentive Plan for achievement of a customer milestone. The awards granted will vest 50% on February
16, 2016 with the remaining 50% vesting on October 22, 2016.
On December 17, 2015, the compensation committee of the board of directors granted to various employees inducement RSU awards under
which the holders have the right to receive an aggregate of 180,098 shares of the Company’s common stock. The awards granted vest over
four years beginning on the first anniversary of the date of hire.
On December 17, 2015, the compensation committee of the board of directors granted to various employees RSU awards under the 2013
Equity Incentive Plan for promotions and merit increases under which the holders have the right to receive an aggregate of 121,032 shares
of the Company’s common stock, of which 120,500 vest over four years and 532 vest immediately.
On December 17, 2015, the compensation committee of the board of directors granted to three consultants RSUs under which the holders
have the right to receive an aggregate of 9,575 shares of the Company’s common stock (of which 1,330 were granted to Martin Cooper).
These awards were granted under the 2014 Non-Employee Equity Compensation Plan. The awards granted were fully vested on the date of
grant.
On December 28, 2015, the compensation committee of the board of directors granted a new employee an inducement RSU award under
which the holder has the right to receive an aggregate 120,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. The awards granted vest over four
years beginning on the first anniversary of the date of hire.
The Company accounts for RSUs granted to consultants using the accounting guidance included in ASC 505-50 “Equity-Based Payments
to Non-Employees” (“ASC 505-50”). In accordance with ASC 505-50, the Company estimates the fair value of the unvested portion of the
RSU award each reporting period using the closing price of the Company’s common stock.
At December 31, 2015, the unamortized value of the RSUs was $11,513,825. The unamortized amount will be expensed over a weighted
average period of 3.2 years. A summary of the activity related to RSUs for the year ended December 31, 2015 is presented below:
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Weighted
Average Grant
Date Fair Value

Total
Outstanding at January 1, 2014
RSUs granted
RSUs forfeited
RSUs vested
Outstanding at December 31, 2014
RSUs granted
RSUs forfeited
RSUs vested
Outstanding at December 31, 2015
Vested at January 1, 2014
RSUs vested
Shares of common stock issued in exchange for RSUs
Vested at December 31, 2014
RSUs vested
Shares of common stock issued in exchange for RSUs
Vested at December 31, 2015

837,672
(104,044)
(6,349)
727,279
1,274,707
(135,199)
(305,791)
1,560,996

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

10.75
12.57
9.94
10.49
8.23
9.73
9.89
8.83

6,349
6,349
305,791
(304,340)
7,800

$
$
$
$
$

9.94
9.94
9.89

$

7.94

Performance Share Units (“PSUs”)
Effective on May 21, 2015, the compensation committee of the board of directors granted to Stephan Rizzone PSUs under which Mr.
Rizzone had the right to receive up to 639,075 shares of the Company’s common stock. The PSUs shall be earned based on the Company’s
market capitalization growth (See Note 7).
On May 21, 2015, the compensation committee of the board of directors granted to its independent directors and executives, PSUs under
which the holders have the right to receive up to 543,216 shares of the Company’s common stock. The PSUs shall be earned based on the
Company’s achievement of market capitalization growth between the effective date of the Employment Agreement and the end of the
Initial Employment Period. If the Company’s market capitalization is $100 million or less, no PSUs will be earned. If the Company reaches
a market capitalization of $1.1 billion or more, 100% of the PSUs will be earned. For market capitalization between $100 million and $1.1
billion, the percentage of PSUs earned will be determined on a quarterly basis based on straight line interpolation.
On July 1, 2015, the Company appointed Martin Cooper to the Board of Directors with a term expiring at the Company’s 2016 annual
stockholders meeting. In connection with Mr. Cooper’s appointment, he was granted PSUs under the Company’s 2015 Performance Share
Unit Plan for which he is eligible to receive 31,954 shares of the Company’s common stock.
On December 17, 2015, the compensation committee of the board of directors granted to Brian Sereda PSUs under the Company’s 2015
Performance Share Unit Plan for which he is eligible to receive 63,908 shares of the Company’s common stock.
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Performance Share Units (“PSUs”), continued
The Company determined that the PSUs were equity awards with both market and service conditions. The Company utilized a Monte Carlo
simulation to determine the fair value of the market condition, as described below. Grantees of PSUs are required to be employed through
December 31, 2018 in order to earn the entire award, if and when vested.
Performance Share
Units (PSUs) Granted
During the Year Ended
December 31, 2015
$
106,270,000
0%
60%
0.95%

Market capitalization
Dividend yield
Expected volatility
Risk-free interest rate

The fair value of the grant of PSUs to purchase a total of 1,278,153 shares of common stock was determined to be approximately
$3,351,353, and is to be amortized over the service period through December 31, 2018, on a straight-line basis. Amortization was $489,239,
for the year ended December 31, 2015.
At December 31, 2015, the unamortized value of the PSUs was approximately $2,527,095. The unamortized amount will be expensed over
a weighted average period of 3.0 years. A summary of the activity related to PSUs for the year ended December 31, 2015 is presented
below:
Weighted
Average Grant
Date Fair Value

Total
Outstanding at January 1, 2015
PSUs granted
PSUs forfeited
PSUs vested
Outstanding at December 31, 2015
Vested at January 1, 2015
PSUs vested
Shares of common stock issued in exchange for PSUs
Vested at December 31, 2015
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1,278,153
(127,699)
(14,840)
1,135,614

$
$
$
$
$

2.62
2.62
2.62
2.62

14,840
(1,072)
13,768

$
$
$
$

2.62
2.62
2.62

ENERGOUS CORPORATION
Notes to Financial Statements
Note 9 – Stock Based Compensation, continued
Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”)
The initial offering period for the ESPP is July 1, 2015 through December 31, 2015. Through December 31, 2015, employees have
contributed an aggregate of $289,787. As of December 31, 2015, 46,023 shares have been issued under this plan, with 553,977 shares
reserved for future issuance.
The weighted-average grant-date fair value of the purchase option for each designated share purchased under this plan was approximately
$2.46, which represents the fair value of the option, consisting of three main components: (i) the value of the discount on the enrollment
date, (ii) the proportionate value of the call option for 85% of the stock and (iii) the proportionate value of the put option for 15% of the
stock. The Company recognized compensation expense for the plan of $113,217 for the year ended December 31, 2015.
The Company estimated the fair value of the purchase options granted during the year ended December 31, 2015 using the Black-Scholes
option pricing model. The fair values of the purchase options granted were estimated using the following assumptions:
Purchase Options Granted
July 1, 2015
$
7.41
0%
65%
0.13%
6 months

Stock price
Dividend yield
Expected volatility
Risk-free interest rate
Expected life
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Stock-Based Compensation Expense
The following tables summarize total stock-based compensation costs recognized for years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013:

Stock options
RSUs
IR warrants
PSUs
ESPP
Shares issued to consultant for services rendered
Total

$

$

For the Years Ended December 31,
2015
2014
2013
1,037,399 $
1,333,943 $
16,148
4,225,728
900,063
85,831
263,972
489,239
113,217
50,000
5,951,414 $
2,547,978 $
16,148

The total amount of stock-based compensation was reflected within the statements of operations as:

Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Total

$

$
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For the Years Ended December 31,
2015
2014
2013
2,816,707 $
924,702 $
729,329
583,238
2,405,378
1,040,038
16,148
5,951,414 $
2,547,978 $
16,148

ENERGOUS CORPORATION
Notes to Financial Statements
Note 10 - Income Taxes
As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Company’s deferred tax assets (liabilities) consisted of the effects of temporary differences
attributable to the following:

Deferred tax assets (liabilities):
Tax credit
Net operating loss carryovers
Property and equipment
Research and development costs
Start-up and organizational costs
Stock-based compensation
Other accruals
Total gross deferred tax assets
Less: valuation allowance
Deferred tax assets, net

$

$

December 31,
2015
2,958,771 $
7,511,765
(98,235)
10,380,961
1,333
1,175,821
155,472
22,085,888
(22,085,888)
- $

2014
877,597
2,314,198
(20,282)
5,820,399
1,443
448,893
188,439
9,630,687
(9,630,687)
-

2015
9,630,687 $
12,455,201
22,085,888 $

2014
1,839,611
7,791,076
9,630,687

The change in the Company’s valuation allowance is as follows:

January 1,
Increase in valuation allowance
December 31,

$
$

The Company has a net operating loss carryover of approximately $18,872,000 and a research and development tax credit carryover of
approximately $2,041,000 that expire beginning in 2032. The ultimate realization of the net operating loss is dependent upon future taxable
income, if any, of the Company and may be limited in any one period by alternative minimum tax rules. Although management believes
that the Company may have sufficient future taxable income to absorb the net operating loss carryovers and research and development tax
credit carryovers before the expiration of the carryover period, there may be circumstances beyond the Company’s control that limit such
utilization. Accordingly, management has determined that a full valuation allowance of the deferred tax asset is appropriate at December
31, 2015 and 2014.
Internal Revenue Code Section 382 imposes limitations on the use of net operating loss carryovers when the stock ownership of one or
more 5% shareholders (shareholders owning 5% or more of the Company’s outstanding capital stock) has increased on a cumulative basis
by more than 50 percentage points. Management cannot control the ownership changes occurring as a result of public trading of the
Company’s Common Stock. Accordingly, there is a risk of an ownership change beyond the control of the Company that could trigger a
limitation of the use of the loss carryover. As of December 31, 2015, the Company has not completed an analysis whether an ownership
change occurred under Section 382, which, if it did occur, could substantially limit its ability in the future to utilize its net operating loss
and other tax carryforwards.
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For the Year Ended December 31,
2015
2014
(34.0)%
(34.0)%
(5.5)
(5.8)

Tax benefit at federal statutory rate
State income taxes
Permanent difference:
Stock-based compensation
Meals and entertainment
Derivative instrument issuance - financing warrant
Change in fair value of derivative liability
General and administrative expense - consulting warrant
Amortization of debt discount
Gain on debt extinguishment
True-up of state deferred taxes
Other
Research and development tax credit, federal
Research and development tax credit, state
Increase in valuation allowance, federal
Increase in valuation allowance, state
Effective income tax rate

1.3
0.1
(0.2)
0.7
(4.4)
(3.1)
36.3
8.8
0.0%

1.1
22.9
0.8
(1.8)
0.6
(0.9)
17.1
0.0%

Note 11 – Related Party
On July 14, 2014, the Company’s Board of Directors appointed Howard Yeaton as the Company’s Interim Chief Financial Officer. On July
13, 2015, the Company appointed Brian Sereda as the Company’s Chief Financial Officer, replacing Interim Chief Financial Officer
Howard Yeaton. Howard Yeaton is the Managing Principal of Financial Consulting Strategies LLC (“FCS”). During the year ended
December 31, 2015, the Company had incurred fees of $61,848 in connection with Mr. Yeaton’s services as Interim Chief Financial
Officer and $88,813 for other financial advisory and accounting services provided by FCS. During the year ended December 31, 2014, the
Company incurred fees of $68,413 in connection with Mr. Yeaton’s services as Interim Chief Financial Officer and $126,153 for other
financial advisory and accounting services provided by FCS.
Note 12 – Unaudited Quarterly Financial Information
Summarized quarterly information for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 is listed below:
For the quarter ended
June 30
September 30

March 31

December 31

2015
Revenue
Operating expenses
Net loss
Loss per share, basic and diluted

$
$
$
$

200,000
7,131,600
(6,925,279)
(0.54)

$
$
$
$

225,000
6,374,970
(6,146,582)
(0.48)

$
$
$
$

2,075,000
7,683,317
(5,605,661)
(0.43)

$
$
$
$

8,887,452
(8,884,180)
(0.61)

2014
Revenue
Operating expenses
Net (loss) income
Net (loss) income per share, basic and diluted

$
$
$
$

2,020,533
(31,009,723)
(11.45)

$
$
$
$

3,495,023
278,621
0.03

$
$
$
$

5,830,438
(5,847,998)
(0.62)

$
$
$
$

9,028,715
(9,024,010)
(0.89)
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
We have established disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to us is made known to the officers
who certify our financial reports and the board of directors.
Based on their evaluation as of December 31, 2015, our principal executive and principal financial and accounting officers have concluded
that these disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) were effective as of
December 31, 2015 to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file under the
Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported, within the time periods specified in Securities and Exchange Commission
rules and forms and that material information relating to the Company is accumulated and communicated to management, including our
principal executive officer and our principal financial officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures.
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as such term is defined
in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Internal control over financial reporting is a process used to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of our financial reporting and the preparation of our financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles in the United States. Internal control over financial reporting includes policies and procedures that pertain to
the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets; provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of our financial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles in the United States, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance
with the authorization of our board of directors and management; and provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on our financial statements.
An internal control system over financial reporting has inherent limitations and may not prevent or detect misstatements. Therefore, even
those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and
presentation. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. However,
these inherent limitations are known features of the financial reporting process. Therefore, it is possible to design into the process
safeguards to reduce, though not eliminate, this risk.
The Company’s management, under the supervision of and with the participation of the principal executive and principal financial and
accounting officers, have assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015
based on criteria for effective control over financial reporting described in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) created by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on this assessment, the Company’s management
concluded that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2015.
This Annual Report on Form 10-K does not include an attestation report of our independent registered public accounting firm regarding
internal control over financial reporting as such report is not required for filers exempt for certain initial periods under the JOBS Act.
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
For the quarter ended December 31, 2015, there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that have materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls
A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of
the control system are met. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute
assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within a company have been detected. Our disclosure controls and
procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance of achieving its objectives. Our principal executive and principal financial and
accounting officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective at that reasonable assurance level.
Item 9B. Other Information.
Not applicable.
30

PART III
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.
The information required under this item is incorporated by reference to the following sections of our proxy statement for our 2015
Annual Meeting of Stockholders: “Information Concerning Directors and Nominees for Director,” “Information Concerning Executive
Officers,” “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance,” “Corporate Governance Principles and Board Matters,” and
“The Board of Directors and Its Committees.”
Item 11. Executive Compensation
The information required under this item is incorporated by reference to the following sections of our proxy statement for our 2015 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders: “Compensation and Other Information Concerning Directors and Officers,” and “The Board of Directors and Its
Committees.”
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholders Matters.
The information required under this item is incorporated by reference to the following sections of our proxy statement for our 2015 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders: “Equity Compensation Plan Information” and “Securities Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and
Management.”
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence
The information required under this item is incorporated by reference to the following sections of our proxy statement for our 2015 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders: “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” and “Corporate Governance Principles and Board Matters.”
Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services
The information required under this item is incorporated by reference to the following sections of our proxy statement for our 2015 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders: “Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” and “Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures.”
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statements and Schedules
(a)

List of documents filed as part of this report:

1.

Financial Statements (see “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” at Item 8 and incorporated herein by reference).

2.

Financial Statement Schedules (Schedules to the Financial Statements have been omitted because the information required to be set
forth therein is not applicable or is shown in the accompanying Financial Statements or notes thereto)

3.

Exhibit Index (The exhibits required to be filed as a part of this Report are listed in the Exhibit Index).
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
Energous Corporation
Dated: March 15, 2016

By:

/s/ Stephen R. Rizzone
Stephen R. Rizzone
President, Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive
Officer) and Director

Dated: March 15, 2016

By:

/s/ Brian Sereda
Brian Sereda
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal
Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)

POWER OF ATTORNEY AND SIGNATURES
We, the undersigned officers and directors of Energous Corporation, hereby severally constitute and appoint Stephen R. Rizzone
our true and lawful attorney, with full power to him to sign for us and in our names in the capacities indicated below, any amendments to
this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and generally to do all things in our names and on our behalf in such capacities to enable Exact Sciences
Corporation to comply with the provisions of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and all the requirements of the Securities
Exchange Commission.
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons
on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Signatures

Title

Date

/s/ Stephen R. Rizzone
Stephen R. Rizzone

President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

March 15, 2016

/s/ Michael Leabman
Michael Leabman

Chief Technology Officer and Director

March 15, 2016

/s/ John R. Gaulding
John R. Gaulding

Director and Chairman

March 15, 2016

/s/ Martin Cooper
Martin Cooper

Director

March 15, 2016

/s/ Robert J. Griffin
Robert J. Griffin

Director

March 15, 2016

/s/ Rex S. Jackson
Rex S. Jackson

Director

March 15, 2016

Exhibit
No.
Description of Document
3.1 Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Energous Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to
Amendment No. 1 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (File No. 333-193522) filed on March 13, 2014)
3.2 Amendment No. 1 to the Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Energous Corporation (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 14, 2014)
3.3 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Energous Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Amendment No. 1 to the
Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (File No. 333-193522) filed on March 13, 2014)
4.1 Specimen Certificate representing shares of common stock of Energous Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to
Amendment No. 2 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (File No. 333-193522) filed on March 21, 2014)
4.2 Amended and Restated Warrant issued to MDB Capital Group, LLC (ARW-1) dated December 13, 2013 (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.12 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-193522) filed on January 24, 2014)
4.3 Amended and Restated Warrant issued to MDB Capital Group, LLC (ARW-2) dated December 13, 2013 (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.13 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-193522) filed on January 24, 2014)
4.4 Form of Underwriter’s Warrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Amendment No. 2 to the Registrant’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1/A (File No. 333-193522) filed on March 21, 2014)
4.5 Form of Amendment to Warrant to Purchase Common Stock Dated June 25, 2014 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 13, 2014
10.1 Executive Employment Agreement between the Company and Michael Leabman dated October 1, 2013 (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.9 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-193522) filed on January 24, 2014)*
10.2 Form of Indemnification Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form
S-1 (File No. 333-193522) filed on January 24, 2014)
10.3 Energous Corporation 2013 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the Registrant’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-193522) filed on January 24, 2014)*
10.4 Form of stock option award under 2013 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the
Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-193522) filed on January 24, 2014)*
10.5 Form of Non-Statutory Option Award (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to Amendment No. 1 to the Registrant’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (File No. 333-193522) filed on March 13, 2014)*
10.6 First Amendment to Energous Corporation 2013 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to Amendment
No. 1 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (File No. 333-193522) filed on March 13, 2014)*
10.7 2014 Non-Employee Equity Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to Amendment No. 1 to the
Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (File No. 333-193522) filed on March 13, 2014)*
10.8 Form of stock option award under 2014 Non-Employee Equity Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to
Amendment No. 2 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (File No. 333-193522) filed on March 21, 2014)*

10.9 Offer Letter effective as of July 14, 2014 between Energous Corporation and Cesar Johnston (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 10, 2014)*
10.10 Consulting Agreement effective as of July 14, 2014 between Energous Corporation and Howard Yeaton (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 10, 2014)*
10.11 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement effective as of August 14, 2014 between Energous Corporation and Cesar
Johnston (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 10,
2014)*
10.12 Lease Agreement dated as of September 10, 2014 between the Company and Balzer Family Investments, L.P. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 16, 2014)
10.13 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under 2013 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.21 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 30, 2015)*
10.14 Form of Inducement Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to the Registrant's
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 30, 2015)*
10.15 Amended and Restated Executive Employment Agreement dated as of April 3, 2015 between the Company and Stephen R.
Rizzone (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 9, 2015)*
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Exhibit 10.21
Energous Corporation
Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy
Members of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Energous Corporation (the “Company”) who are not employees of the Company or
any subsidiary of the Company (“Directors”) shall be paid the following amounts in consideration for their services on the Board.
Cash Compensation
Each Director shall be paid an annual cash retainer of $50,000 prorated for partial years of service and paid quarterly in arrears. The
Chairman of the Board, Lead Independent Director and committee members shall be paid the following additional annual cash retainer
amounts paid quarterly in arrears:
Chairman of the Board:
Lead Independent Director:
Audit Committee Chair:
Audit Committee Member:
Compensation Committee Chair:
Compensation Committee Member:
Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee
Chair:
Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee
Member:

$50,000
$25,000
$20,000
$10,000
$15,000
$5,000
$10,000
$5,000

A Director may elect to receive all or any portion of the cash consideration otherwise payable in respect of a particular calendar year in the
form of deferred stock units (“DSUs”). DSUs are bookkeeping entries representing the equivalent of shares of the Company’s common
stock “Common Stock”) and are paid in shares of Common Stock on the effective date of the Director’s cessation of services to the Board.
To be effective, notice of such election must be delivered to the Company’s Chief Financial Officer in writing or electronically on a form
acceptable to the Company prior to the commencement of the subject year. If a Director elects to receive DSUs in lieu of cash for a
particular calendar year, such Director shall, on the first trading day following December 31 of the preceding year (the “DSU Grant Date”),
be granted a number of DSUs equal to the cash amount of such election divided by the Fair Market Value of the Common Stock on the
DSU Grant Date. Such DSUs shall be made under and pursuant to the Company’s 2014 Non-Employee Equity Compensation Plan (the
“Plan”). Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall have the meanings given to them in the Plan. The DSUs shall not
become vested until the first anniversary of the DSU Grant Date (the “DSU Vesting Date”). If a Director ceases to serve as a Director
before the DSU Vesting Date due to the Director’s death, or if there is a Change in Control prior to the DSU Vesting Date, then the DSUs
shall become fully vested as of the date of such death or Change in Control, as applicable. If a Director ceases to serve as a Director at any
time for any reason other than death before the earlier of the DSU Vesting Date or a Change in Control, then the DSUs shall become
vested pro rata (based on the number of days between the DSU Grant Date and the date of cessation of services divided by 365), and to the
extent the DSUs are not thereby vested they shall be forfeited as of the date of such cessation of services.

Equity Compensation
On the first trading day following December 31 of each year (each, an “RSU Grant Date”), each Director will also be awarded a number of
restricted stock units (“RSUs”) equal to $75,000 divided by the Fair Market Value of the Common Stock on the RSU Grant Date; provided,
however, a Director may elect to receive all or any portion of such compensation in the form of DSUs. To be effective, notice of such
election must be delivered to the Company’s Chief Financial Officer in writing or electronically on a form acceptable to the Company prior
to the commencement of the subject year. In addition, the Chairman of the Board, if independent, shall be awarded an additional 25,000
RSUs on the RSU Grant Date. All Director RSUs under this Policy shall be made under and pursuant to the Plan. The RSUs shall not
become vested until the first anniversary of the RSU Grant Date (the “Annual Award Vesting Date”). If a Director ceases to serve as a
Director before the Annual Award Vesting Date due to the Director’s death, or if there is a Change in Control prior to the Annual Award
Vesting Date, then the RSUs shall become fully vested as of the date of such death or Change in Control, as applicable. If a Director ceases
to serve as a Director at any time for any reason other than death before the earlier of the Annual Award Vesting Date or a Change in
Control, then the annual equity grant shall become vested pro rata (based on the number of days between the RSU Grant Date and the date
of cessation of services divided by 365), and to the extent the RSUs are not thereby vested they shall be forfeited as of the date of such
cessation of services. The Board, in its sole discretion and in recognition for meritorious service, may elect to vest up to 100% of a
Director’s unvested equity awards upon retirement.
Expense Reimbursement
The compensation described in this Policy is in addition to reimbursement of all out-of-pocket expenses incurred by Directors in attending
meetings of the Board.
Employee Directors
An employee of the Company who serves as a director on the Board or on the board of directors of a Company subsidiary receives no
additional compensation for such service.
Section 409A
This Policy is intended to comply with Code Section 409A to the extent subject thereto, and, accordingly, to the maximum extent permitted,
the Policy shall be interpreted and administered to be in compliance therewith. Any payments described in this Policy that are due within
the “short-term deferral period” as defined in Code Section 409A shall not be treated as deferred compensation unless applicable laws
require otherwise.
Adopted Effective December 17, 2015
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EXHIBIT 21.1
Subsidiaries of Energous Corporation
None.

EXHIBIT 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements of Energous Corporation on Form S-3 (No. 333-203622) and
Forms S-8 (No. 333-196360, 333-203152 and 333-204690) of our report dated March 15, 2016, with respect to our audits of the financial
statements of Energous Corporation as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 and for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, which
report is included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Energous Corporation for the year ended December 31, 2015.

/s/ Marcum LLP
Marcum LLP
Melville, New York
March 15, 2016

EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF THE PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Stephen R. Rizzone, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Energous Corporation;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in
this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known
to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on
such evaluation; and
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5.

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing
the equivalent functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information;
and
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.
Date: March 15, 2016
/s/ Stephen R. Rizzone
Name: Stephen R. Rizzone
Title: President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF THE PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Brian Sereda, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Energous Corporation;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in
this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on
such evaluation; and

d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing
the equivalent functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information;
and
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.
Date: March 15, 2016
/s/ Brian Sereda
Name: Brian Sereda
Title: Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

EXHIBIT 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of Energous Corporation (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015 as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), we, Stephen R. Rizzone, President and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company, and Brian Sereda, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as
adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations
of the Company.
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Energous Corporation and will be retained by
Energous Corporation and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
/s/ Stephen R. Rizzone
Name: Stephen R. Rizzone
Title: President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
Date: March 15, 2016

/s/ Brian Sereda
Name: Brian Sereda
Title: Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Date: March 15, 2016

